
Homicides of Adults in Virginia, 1634-1779PRIVATE 

Assorted notes on homicides in non-county sources:  government records, newspapers, etc.  These notes are not yet compiled in worksheets.

1640


HOM:  John Burton m. an Indian.

12/12/1640 s:  "Whereas certain goods being stolen by an indian out of the plantation wherein John Burton liveth, whereupon the said Burton meeting with another indian and supposing him to be the same who had formerly stolen the said goods, the said Burton did violently kill the said indian which hath since upon due examination proved not the same which had stolen the goods as aforesaid whereby much danger may arise unto the said Burton or some other of our nation in revenge of the death of the said indian so killed by the said Burton:  The court hath therefore ordered that the said Burton shall remove his habitation out of this country wherein he now liveth and pay a fine to his majesty of 20 pouns sterling and to stand committed until he put in security for his good behavior."

12/14/1640 s:  "Whereas John Burton was upon Saturday last fined in the sum of 20 pounds sterling to his majesty for his contempt in killing of an indian for the remission whereof he hath now petitioned to the board and for as much as hath likewise by some of his great men interceded to the board on the said Burton's behalf and have certified that they are satisfied concerning the same, the court hath therefore remitted his said fine provided that he enter into recognizance for his good behavior."  [ed. -- Robinson wrote "perhaps Opechananough" on the side of this paragraph]

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 478, 483.

Book No. 12:  "162 163   John Burton fined for killing an Indian & remitted by intercession of Opashankanow & his great men."  (p. 483)


Rountree (1990: 83-4:  discusses the case.  Jeopardized English-Powhatan relations.  Opechancanough, however, made a gesture to impress the English:  he supported JB's petition for remission of the fine, & sent some of his "great men" with the message that the Powhatans considered the killing a mistake.  The fine therefore remitted.

1640?


HOM:  unk.

"47   A Grand Jury returned an Indictment for murder Ignoramus and ye prisoner after proclamation acquitted and cleared."


Book No. 12

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 482.

VMH, 17:  120 [Randolph MSS]; quoted in Arthur P. Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia (Chicago:  Univ. of Chicago Press, 1930), 67n59.

1640?


HOM:  unk.

"49   A pettit jury for murder 24 men, for felony but 12.  both not guilty discharged by proclamation.  Runaways whipt."


Book No. 12

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 482.

1642


HOM?


10/10/1642:  "Reparation to a doctor charged with murder p 131"

[237]

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 500.

1646


Robert Beverley, The History and Present State of Virginia, ed. Louis B. Wright (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1947), 61-2.


HOM:  of Oppechancanough after his capture after the massacre of 1644.  O was "now grown so decrepit, that he was not able to walk alone."  Governor Berkeley, receiving intelligence that O was some distance from his usual habitation, set a party of horsemen after O, who was taken by surprise.  The party marched O to Jamestown, where he was jailed.


"by the Governour's Command, he was treated with all the Respect and Tenderness imaginable.  Sir William had a mind to send him to England, hoping to get Reputation, by presenting his Majesty with a Royal Captive; who at his Pleasure, could call into the Field Ten times more Indians thatn Sir William Berkeley had English in his whole Government.  Besides, he thought this ancient Prince wou'd be an Instance of the Healthiness and long Life of the Natives of that Country.  However, he could not preserve his Life above a Fortnight;For one of the Soldiers, resenting the Calamities the Colony had suffer'd by this Prince's Means, basely shot him thro' the Back, after he was made Prisoner; of which Wound he died.


     He continued brave to the last Moment of his Life, and show'd not the least Dejection at his Captivity.  He heard one Day a great Noise of the Treading of People about him; upon which he caused his Eye-lids to be lifted up; and finding that a Crowd of People were let in to see him, he call'd in high Indignation for the Governour; who being come, Oppechancanough scornfully told him, That had it been his Fortune to take Sir William Berkeley Prisoner, he should not meanly have exposed him as a Show to the People."

1654


HOM:


H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 503.


June 7, 1654:  "p. 150  Order upon complaint by Totapotamoy that an indian his brother was slain by an englishman"

In General Orders &c 1654-1659

1657


HOM:

Oct. 7, 1657:  "p. 322  Person bound over to answer complaint for murder preferred on behalf of his highness the Lord Protector."


In General Orders &c 1654-1659

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 505.

1659

Northumberland Co.

HOM:  Indian m. _____.  Indicted.

WMQ, 6:  118, quoting Northumberland Co. records; cited in Arthur P. Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia (Chicago:  Univ. of Chicago Press, 1930), 66.

1666


HOM:


10/29/1666:  "p 109  Judgment of death for stabbing"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 510.

1669


HOM:


4/23/1669:  "p 286  Judgment for murder"

General Court Judgments and Orders, 1664-1670

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 513.

1671

GC


HOM:  Edward Reddish m. Richard Davis


Indicted.  fG of MANSL.  pled benefit of clergy.  Gov. granted him clemency from burning.

4/7/1671 s.:  "Edward Reddish being indicted upon Suspition for murthering of Richard Davis was by the Grand Jury found Billa veraand by the petitt Jury found Guilty of Manslaughter upon which he craved the benefitt of his Clergy and did read and by the Governors Clemency and mercy was acquitted from burneing"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 252.

1671

GC


HOM:  Thomas Shaw m. Thomas Seaman


Indicted.  fG of murder.  Death.  Pardoned.

4/7/1671 s.:  "Thomas Shaw being Indicted for murthering of Tho Seaman was by the Grand Jury found Billa vera and by the Petitt Jury found Guilty of murther the Governor with the Consent of the Councell pronounced Sentence of Death against him."

5/25/1671 s.:  "By consent of all the Court that are within the Comicion of Oyer & Terminer that Tho: Shaw a prisoner Condemned at last Court to be hanged and reprieved to this Court, be reprieved till the third Day of next Aprill Court, where it will be knowne whether a pardon from the King will be granted him and in the meane tyme the Sherr to take personall Security for the said prisoner"

3/26/1672 s.:  "Thomas Shaa formerly condemned to dye for murther & reprieved by his Majesty it is ordered that the said Shaa have his liberty as ye Kings prisoner paying his Fees."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 252, 259, 298.

1672

GC


HOM:  Henry Bowser [indentured servant of Mr. Perrott] m. 


Indicted.  fNG.

3/26/1672 s.:  "Ordered that Henry Bowser servant to Mr Perrott do serve his said master one yeare for absenting himself by running away, over and above the terme of his Indenture.

The said Henry Bowser being indicted for murther of . . . was by the petty jury returned not guilty and was quitted by proclamation."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 299-300.

1672

James City Co.

bnf


HOM?  DO NOT COUNT:  Rich Awborne m. John Penior.


Court found no grounds for indictment.

10/3/1672 s:  "Mr Rich Lawrence haveing Charged Rich Awborne in James Citty County Court with words relate to the said Awborne being lyable to a Tryall for the Death of John Penior Deceased in Soe high a Nature that the said Commissioners thought fitt to Committ the said Awborne to the sherriffs Custody Untill he gave bond with Security for his Appearance at this General Court to Answer the Same, and the said Lawrence to prosecute to his charge.  And this day Lieutenant Colonel Jordan Attorney General for his Majestie presenting the said order in Court and this Court finding no Matter or Grund for a Inditement against Awborne for the same, doth now order that the bonds entred into by either be delivered Up Unto them, and Awborne and his baile Accquitted from the Said Charge"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 313.

Richard Lawrence:  many entries.  An attorney (207, 293); a petitioned, cause unstated in the record (236), a surveyor (343), fined 400 l. tobacco for entertaining the governor's servants, fine to go toward the fort at James City (372).

Richard Lawrence:  runaway servants of [Jeremiah Mathews, Evan Ward, & John Bustone, took RL's shallop & ran away & lost the shallop:  JM & EW absent for two months, JB had 8.5 yrs left to serve, & RL went to great expense to recover them.  JM & EW to serve 7 years apiece after their time] (382-3).

1672

GC


HOM:  William Carver of Elizabeth River m. 


fNG.


NOTE:  A TROUBLING CASE.  IT WENT TO TRIAL, AND THE TRIAL DID NOT APPEAR IN THE COURT RECORD!!!

11/9/1672 s:  "Mr Wm Carver of Eliz: River last Court accused of Stabbing & killing a Man, and by a Jury accquitted, goes home & has Since Comitted Misdemeanors and great offers of Abuses amongst his Neighbours who complaines thereof by a Petition under many of their hands & by Information of Major General Rich Bennett Esquire.  It is therefore Ordered that the Sheriffe of the County of Lower Norfolke forthwith take the said Carver into his Safe Custody & him soe to Detaine Untill he give good able Security for his good behavior to All his Majesties Subjects, And it is Desired by this Court that the said Honorable Major General Rich Bennett Esquire will take care to see this order as aforesaid truely executed."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 319.

Captain William Carver (HRMcI, 210, 276)

4/20/1670 s:  "The difference depending betweene Mr Rowland Place Attorney of Thomas Burdis Brother to William Burdis plaintiff and Captain William Carver defendant about plate and pieces of Eight was referred to a Jury . . . who upon their oathes bringe in this verdict that they find for the Defendant, which verdict the Court doth confirme with costs"

9/28/1671 s:  "Mr Porteene & Major Ball are ordered to examine and State the accounts and differences betweene Mr Prigg and Captain Carver and present the Same to this Court by Monday next."

1673

GC


HOM:  Richard Thomas m. Edward Morrice.


fG.  Death.  To be hanged.

3/15/1673 s:  "Rich: Thomas Indited & Tryed for his life for murdering one Edward Morrice Yesterday the Grand Jury brought in thier Virdent Billa Vera and then a Jury of Life and Death was Impannalled according to Law who now bring in their virdict Guilty, Upon which virdect Sentance of Death passed against the said Rich: Thomas to be hanged by the Neck till hee be Dead Teusday Next."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 329.

March 15, 1673:  "Sentence of death for murder p 172 (2 entries) p 205, 290.  Banishment p 310"  [NOTE:  PROBABLY THE SAME CASES]

General Court Judgments and Orders 1670 to 1677

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 517.

1673

GC


HOM:  Mary Blades m. Phillip Lettice.


Knife.  Stabbed.


fG.  Death.  To be hanged.  Postponed till next court.

3/15/1673 s:  "Mary Blades indited & tryed for her life for stabbing to death one Phillip Lettice, Yesterday the Grand Jury brought in thier Virdict Billa Vera and then a Jury of life and Death was Impannelled who now brings in their Virdict Guilty Upon which Verdent sentence of death passed against the said Mary Blades to be hanged by the necke till she be Dead on Tuesday Next.  But Upon Consideration the Execution of this Death on Mary Blades suspended till Next Court."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 329.

March 15, 1673:  "Sentence of death for murder p 172 (2 entries) p 205, 290.  Banishment p 310"  [NOTE:  PROBABLY THE SAME CASES]

General Court Judgments and Orders 1670 to 1677

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 517.

1673

GC


HOM:  William Lightly m. James Cannady & Ann Cannady (JC's wife).


fG.  Death.  To be hanged.

10/24/1673 s:  "William Lightly Indited and tryed for his Life for murdering James Cannady and Ann his wife Yesterday the Grand Jury Brought in theire Virdict Billa vera, then a Jury of Life and Death was Impannelled, who now bring in their Virdict Guilty.  upon which Virdict Sentance of Death past Against the Said William Lightly to be hanged by the Neck untill he be Dead on Monday in the Afternoone Next."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 353.

* 1674

GC


HOM:  Harry [an Indian] m. _____ [assumed an Englishman]


fG.  Death.  to be hanged.

9/25/1674 s:  "Harry the Indian Indited and tryed for his Life for Stabbing of _____ the Grand Jury brought in their Virdict billa Vera, then a Jury of Life and Death was Impannelled, who now bring in their Virdict Guilty, Upon which Virdict Sentence of Death past Against the said Harry the Indian to be hanged by the neck untill he be Dead"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 380.

9/25/1674:  "p 243  Sentence of death against an indian for murder"  [NOTE:  PROBABLY THE SAME CASE]

General Court Judgments and Orders 1670 to 1677

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 518.

1674

DON'T COUNT FOR NOW:  HOM:  [DIFFERENT FROM THE MURDER HARRY WAS INVOLVED IN?  ASSUME NOT FOR NOW. note that the other cases from the notes at the back of the volume all corresponded to cases tried in the court records, except for one case of abuse of a master.]


"p. 456, 7, 8  Concerning the killing an indian in Rappahannock in 1674."

General Court will book No. 2

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 515.

1675

GC


HOM:  Wm Burgis m. Wm Horton.


pG.  Death.  to be hanged.

6/18/1675 s:  "Wm Burgis Indited for murthering Wm Horton was by ye Grand Jury found billa vera, & uppon his Examination Did Confesse Guilty, Sentance of death therefore past uppon him to be hanged by ye neck untill he was Dead."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 414.

William Horton:  land rights deserted by, 245 [Mr. Walter Chiles on behalf of his two sons, Jno. & Henry, granted to patent 1500 acres in the forest of Westmoreland Co, bounding on the land of Thomas Dyer, the said land formerly granted to Capt. Jno. Lorder & Mr. William Horton "and by them Deserted Entring rights according to Law"; defendant, 387, 402, 419, 434 [difference between Mr. Richard Bernard & William Horton about land, refered to an able jury, who are to be of adjacent counties, & Mr. Wm Moseley, surveyor, to lay out the said according to the bounds of the said Mr. Richard Bernards patent & to report to the General Court--case continued after the murder, so the WH in this suit is not the murdered man]; murdered, 414.

1675

bnf


HOM:  Jonathan Rawlins m. Indian woman.


bnf by Grand Jury:  Ignoramus.

10/9/1675 s:  "Jno Rawlins being Accused for murthering of an Indian woman by the Grand Jury found Ignoramus, he was therefore Acquitted by proclamation."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 426.

1675

GC


HOM:  Elinor Thrasser m. _____ Taylor.


Indicted.  fNG.

10/9/1675 s:  "Elinor Thrasser being Indited for murthering Taylor was found not Guilty, she was therefore Acquitted by proclamation."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 426, 429.

[no other Thrassers in the index:  & HRMcI considers the man murdered here to be the same John Taylor that Jno. Dowglace is later accused of murdering.]

1675

GC


HOM HHLD RUNAWAY SERVANT by RUNAWAY SERVANT:  Evan Ward m. Jonathan Button.


Indicted.  fG.  Council overturned verdict because of problems with the evidence, failure to find the corpse.  Banished EW.

10/12/1675 s:  "Evan Ward being Indited for murthering Jonathan Button was brought in by the Grand Jury billa vera, then a Jury of Life & death was Impannelledl, who brought in their Verdict Guilty, Butt before Sentence of death past, part of the Councell being Dissatisfied with the Jury Virdict by Reason of the Variousness and the Evidence & for that the Corps were never found, Have thought fitt & doe Order that the Said Evan Ward be Banished out of this Country & never to Returne."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 428.

Evan Ward:  runaway servant, 382-3.  [servant of Richard Lawrence, for whom there are many entries.  An attorney (207, 293); a petitioned, cause unstated in the record (236), a surveyor (343), fined 400 l. tobacco for entertaining the governor's servants, fine to go toward the fort at James City (372).

Richard Lawrence's runaway servants of [Jeremiah Mathews, Evan Ward, & John Bustone, took RL's shallop & ran away & lost the shallop:  JM & EW absent for two months, JB had 8.5 yrs left to serve, & RL went to great expense to recover them.  JM & EW to serve 7 years apiece after their time] (382-3).

JOHN BUSTONE & JOHN BUTTON probably the same person:  assume so.

1675

GC


MANSL:  Jonathan Dowglace m. Jonathan Taylor.


Indicted.  fG of Mansl.  Burnt in the hand.


[NOTE:  SAME CASE AS THE ____ Taylor above?]

10/12/1675 s:  "Jonathan Dowglace Indited for murthering of Jonathan Taylor was found by the Petty Jury to be Manslaughter, for which fact he was burnt in the Hand"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 429.

10/12/1675:  "Judgment for manslaughter (burning in the hand) 310"  [NOTE:  PROBABLY THE SAME CASE]


General Court Judgments and Orders 1670 to 1677

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 518.

1675

GC


MANSL:  Edward Washington m. William Norcott.


Indicted.  fG of Mansl.  Burnt in the hand.

10/12/1675 s:  "Edward Washington Indited for murthering of William Norcott was found by the Petty Jury to be Manslaughter, for which fact he was Burnt in the hand"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 429.


10/12/1675:  "Judgment for manslaughter (burning in the hand) 310"  [NOTE:  PROBABLY THE SAME CASE]

General Court Judgments and Orders 1670 to 1677

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 518.

1679


PETIT TREASON:  murder of a master by a servant or slave.


Death sentence.


9/27/1679:  "Sentence of death for petit treason (last entry on p 106)"


[265]  Bonds &c 1677 to 1682  Orders

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 520.

1680


HOM


1/23/1680:  "Concerning murders by indians p 132.  Some taken prisoners 132"


Bonds &c 1677 to 1682  Orders

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676, with Notes and Excerpts from Original Council and General Court Records, into 1683, Now Lost (Richmond, 1924), 520.

1680

Charles City Co.


MISSING / POSS HOM:  "a man" -- suspect a Notoway Indian in his disappearance.


Council, 8/3/1680:  orders an investigation.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 12.

1682

Isle of Wight Co.


HOM:  ___ m. ___

Council, 11/27/1682:  the sheriff of James City ordered to receive a criminal committed for murder from the sheriff of Isle Wight.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 491.

169_


IND:  "Strange Indians" m. an English woman (servant owned by William Byrd)

Council, 7/6/1692:  "some time Since" an English Woman "belonging" to Wm Byrd, Esq. was killed & "a Negro WOman and Mollatto boy taken away by some Strange Indians."  Byrd complains that the negro woman had lately been sold by the said Indians to an inhabitant of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  The Gov & Council, as Byrd's request, petitions the Lord's Committee for Trade and Plantations for a prohibition on the purchase of slaves or servants from Indians, lest the Indians be encouraged to capture them in one colony & sell them in another.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 262.

1691

Rappahanock Co.


HOM:  Jonathan Devoll m. Robert Peachy


"Horrid Murther."  The Gen. Court orders a special Court of Oyer & Terminer be held so that JD can be tried soon "lest he should escape."


Council, 4/20/1691:  the murder had occurred just prior to the council session.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 171-2.

1692




HOM in VIRGINIA:  William Dolby (Boatswain of the Ship Assurance) and Edward Legg m. Capt. William Marshall (a justice of the peace and member of the House of Burgesses)


Sentenced to Death.  A letter requesting their pardon sent by the Gov. & Council to the King.  Pardon granted.  WD & EL are sent back to England at the King's request.

Council, 11/1/1692:  Governor asked the opinion of Council on the case, "and the Councills Opinions is that the said Dolby and Legg are Objects of Mercy, and that they be Reprieved till the 4th day of the next Generall Court, to the End their Majts pleasure may be known therein."

Council, 9/1/1693:  Pardon granted & WD & EL are sent back to England at the King's request.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 266, 272, 296.

1693


HOM WIFE:  ___ King m. ___ King (his wife).

Council, 1/4/1694:  a Commission of Oyer and Terminer appointed to try the case.  Charged with "murthering his Wife."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 305.

1694

Brent Towne


IND in VA:  ___ m. "a Negro"

Council, 7/18/1694:  a letter from Capt. George Mason reports that the Rangers "found a Negro Killed Supposed by Indians" "fouer miles in the Woods back" of Brent Towne.  GM reports that "he canot perswade the Inhabitants . . . to returne to their habitations again."  Council orders the Rangers to see to it that the town is "not to be deserted nor hurt by any Indian or Other Enemy's," and the magistrates "if possible to find out who Murthred the Negro."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 315.

1696

Potomeck River


HOM:  Indian m. "a man"

Council, 6/11/1696:  Capt. George Mason, deputy commander & chief officer of the militia in Potomeck, complains that Capt. John Battaile, sheriff of Essex County, "refused to forward an Express Sent to his Excellency on Occasion of a man killed by Indians upon Potomeck river and Ralph Whiteing Ferryman refused to Set over the river."  Council orders JB & RW to appear before the next council to answer the charges.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 347.

1696

New Kent Co.


HOM:  Anne Grey (of Blisland parish) m. John Reynolds.


Convicted.  Death.  Permitted by Gov. & Council to apply for the King's pardon.

Council, 10/30/1696:  Petition received from many of the principal inhabitants of the county "praying a reprieve for her."  Court grants a reprieve so that she may apply for the King's pardon.

Council, 6/22/1699:  Ann Grey still in custody of the sheriff of New Kent County after numerous reprieves.  Asks that she may have liberty to go to Accomack Co., where she has a brother who will provide for her maintenance, she having been impoverished "by her Late misfortunes" -- the Gen. Court inquires into the facts of her case and seeks an opinion on the matter.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 359-60, 459.

1699

on Potowmeck River


IND:  "Indians" [including Squire Tom, a Piscataway Indian] m. _____ [several persons?]


[SEE MARYLAND HOM in 1697 committed by Esquire Tom]]

Council, 6/21/1699:  a letter from Major Thomas Owsley concerning a murder on the Potomac River committed by the Indians.  Governor asked Council if anything need be done at present in response.  [On the same page, below, a proclamation is prepared calling for the apprehension of Squire Tom.  Related to this case?  Seems so!]

Council, 6/22/1699:  [same case?  assume so] proclamation for apprehension of Squire Tom, a Piscataway Indian, who has been convicted upon the records of the Stafford County Court "for the barbarous murther of Some of his Mats Subjects in the said County" & who "is fled from Justice."  Outlawed Tom:  10 l. reward for apprehending him dead or alive.  Proclamation to be "published in all Churches Chappells & other publique places" by all sheriffs in their respective counties.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 456, 466.

1699

Charles City Co.

GC


HOM WIFE:  Samuell Bray m. his wife Sarah Bray


fG.  Executed.


"In October Generall Court 1699


   Samuell Bray of Charles City County Condemned for ye 
Murther of his wife Sarah Bray, and was afterwards 
Executed."

Council, 5/30/1699:  James Minge, the coroner of Charles City Co., laid before the Gov. & Council the inquest he had taken upon the body of Sarah Bray, late wife of Samuel Bray.  Ordered that the inquest be delivered to Mr. Atty Gen. & "the offender's therein menconed be prosecuted, according to Law."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond, 1927), 2: 154, 20.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 1:  June 11, 1680-June 22, 1699 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1925), 440.

* 1699

Henrico County

GC


HOM:  Peter (an Indian man belonging to Capt. Giles Webb) m. John Crostick of Henrico County.


fG.  Executed.


"In October Generall Court 1699 . . .


Peter an Indian man late belonging to Capt. Giles Webb.  Condemned for ye Murder of one John Crostick of Henrico County.  and was afterwards executed."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond, 1927), 2: 154, 20.

1700

Essex Co.

GC


HOM WIFE:  Thomas Day m. his wife.  //  not counted


fNG.


"In Aprill Generall Court 1700


Thomas Day of Essex County for ye Murder of his wife.  Acquitted and discharged."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond, 1927), 2: 120-1, 154.

*  1700

Surry Co.

GC


HOM:  John Ide m. Thomas Bage.


fG.  Executed.


"In Aprill Generall Court 1700 . . .


John Ide for ye Murder of Thomas Bage of Surry County.  Condemned.  and was afterwards executed."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 2: 154, 61, 41, 44.

41:  Council, 2/22/1700:  Jamey (an Indian slave) charged with the murder of his master, Thomas Bage, & Court of Oyer & Terminer appointed to try him.  [[So they first suspected an Indian!]]

1700

Elizabeth City Co.


HOM:  pirates m. Peter Heyman, Esq. (His Majesty's Collector of the Lower District of James River)  //  count

Council, 5/6/1700:  Killed on board the ship Shoarham, "having behaved himself very well in the fight."  Captain Lewis (commander of the La Paix), a French pirate, was taken in the fight b/w the H.M.S. Shoarham & the pirate's ship.  Lewis surrended his ship & his men on certain conditions.  Pirates to be tried by a special Court of Admiralty in Eliz. Co.  PH was trying to suppress illegal trading at the time.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 2:  August 3, 1699-April 27, 1705 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 63, 65-6, 70, 285.

1700

Essex Co.

GC


HOM:  John Smith m. Elizabeth Day [late wife of Thomas Day]


fG.  Executed.


[SEE CASE ABOVE:  MAYBE NOT A WIFE MURDER!!!]


"In October Generall Court 1700 . . .


John Smith for felony & ye Murder of Elizabeth Day late wife of Thomas Day of Essex County.  found Guilty.  Condemned and was executed."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 2: 120-1, 154.

1701

GC


HOM:  Evan Roberts m. Alice Evans.


fG of MANSL.  Transported.


"In October Generall Court 1701


Evan Roberts for ye Murder of Alice Evans.  found Guilty of Manslaughter and had Judgment of death past against him upon his Confession that he could not read.  but afterwards prayed that he might be transported which was granted."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 2: 154-5.

1701

King & Queen Co.

GC


HOM MARITAL COMMON LAW WIFE by HUSBAND:  Derby Collnon m. his mistress, Jane Ford.


fG.  to be executed.


"In October Generall Court 1701 . . .


Derby Collnon for ye murder of his Mistress Jane Ford of King & Queen County  Condemned.  and is to be Executed in the Parish where ye Murder was Comitted On fryday next being ye 7th of this Instant November 1701"

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 2: 155.

1701


MANSL & ROBBERY:  3 persons m. ____.


fG.  Prayed for clemency, but confessed they could not read.  Transported out of the colony.

Two Year List of General Court Trials, November, 1701, PRO CO5/1312, Va. COl. Rec. microfilm; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 106n50.

* 1702

Westmoreland Co.


HOM:  William Chandelor (of Westmoreland Co., husband of Jane Chandelor) m. his man servant.


Suspected of drowning his man servant in the Machetock River.


Jailed.  Indicted.  Tried at General Court.  fNG.

Council, 8/17/1702:  Petition from his wife, Jane, requesting that the Westmoreland Co. Court provide her husband with copies of the verdict of the Jury of Inquest & with copies of the depositions against him, so that he can better defend himself.  The General Court allowed the former, but not the latter.

Council, 4/19/1704:  petition from Wm Chandler, complaining that the sheriff of Westmoreland Co. has brought an action against him for 5,000 l.t. for fees & charges in sending him to the Gen. Court in Oct., 1702, he being indicted for murder & there acquitted.  Gen. Court orders that the County Court decide the matter according to law.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 2:  August 3, 1699-April 27, 1705 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 268-9, 357.

Imprisoned.  His wife petitioned the Council for information to aid in preparing his defense.  Ordered that she could receive a copy of the coroner's inquest, but not of the depositions.

Calendar State Papers American and West Indies (1702), No. 855; cited in Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia, 77-8.

1705

York Co.


MANSL?  Capt. Robert Ranson, commander of the ship Thomas and John in York River, m. Valentine Arrison.

Council, 10/18/1705:  Jonathan Yates, Carpenter of the ship Thomas and John, sent petition to Governor claiming that RR beat & abused VA so that he died "soon after."  Several members of the crew taken & examined, but not under oath, so ordered that the Justices of York County depose the crew.  

Council, 11/29/1705:  Atty General's opinion on depositions, & several other legal opinions, heard by Gov. & Council.  "doubntful whether the said Case (supposing the Evidence to be good) can regularly be enquired of here, and it appearing that the Information given agt the said Ranson is contradicted by the testimony of divers witnesses and seems to be done out of malice."  The affidavits certified & forwarded to the Lord's Comm. for Trade & Plantations, for that committee to decide what action to take.

Council, 6/17/1706:  ASSAULT:  complaint of Wm Barber, sheriff of York Co. & Barrentine Howles, his undersheriff, against RR, master of the Thomas & John, for "beating and abusing" BH while he was executing his office & serving a writ upon RR.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 42, 44, 65, 104.

1707

King William Co.


HOM:  Simon Kilcrease of King William Co. m. a Tuscaruro Indian in the county.

Council, 4/26/1707:  SK has been "accused" of the murder.  The Council ordered him jailed until he give bond to appear on the 4th day of the next General Court to answer "what shal be laid to his Charge in relation to the fact abovementioned."

Council, 10/21/1707:  appears that the Indians "was the first agressor" and that Kilcrease was indicted for the murder but acquitted by the grand jury, so the Council dismisses SK from his attendance at court.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 147, 156.

1708


HOM:  Thomas Ashwell m. Anthony Power.


fG at "this General Court" -- DEATH.  To be executed 5/21.


Council, 4/28/1708:  

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 179.

1708


HOM:  James Pertnock m. Elizabeth Thrower.


fG at "this General Court" -- DEATH.  To be executed 5/21.


Council, 4/28/1708:  

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 179.

1708

Princess Anne County


HOM:  Andrew Macclanaham of Princess Anne Co. m. John Curry, husband of Joan Curry.

Council, 11/24/1712:  petition of Joan Curry.  Claims her husband was killed by AM "some time ago" & that AM "having never been prosecuted for the said murder doth likewise threaten the life of the said petitioner, and praying Relief therein."  Petition refered to the Atty. Gen. and ordered "that he take proper measures for bringing the said Macclanahan to a Speedy Tryal."

Council, 5/2/1713:  AM had been indicted in the General Court in 708 for murder & fG of MANSL.  Council angry at the Justices of Princess Anne Co. for discharging AM & "contrary to their duty" quashing the Coroner's Inquest "without suffering it to be returned in the usual manner into the Secretary's Office," which allowed AM to escape punishment for several years.  General Court declares the case "to be partial and unjust," and expressed its "dissatisfaction" with the quashing of the inquest.  Ordered that the General Court's declaration be sent to Princess Anne County and entered in the Records of the County Court "as a Caution to the said Court for their future behaviour in the like Cases."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 329, 343.

Scott, Criminal Law, 119n232:  5/2/1713:  pardoned of all punishments & forfeitures on condition that he transport himself for seven years.  VMH, 19:  263.

1710


HOM:

Byrd Diary, entry:  12/12/1710:  "one criminal was arraigned for killing a woman after a new fashion."

Byrd Diary, entry:  12/13/1710:  Court of O&T:  "we proceeded to try the person accused of killing the woman and the jury found him guilty of manslaughter."

Louis B. Wright and Marion Tinling, eds., The Secret Diary of William Byrd of Westover, 1709-1712 (Richmond, Va.:  The Dietz Press, 1941), 95.  

1710


HOM:  William Kentin k. ____ on board the Bristoll Merchant in York River.

Council, April 27, 1710:  Commision of O & T appointed to try him for committing the murder, which occurred since the sitting down of the General Court.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 241.

* 1711

Middlesex Co.


HOM SELF-DEFENSE:  George Wortham m. Roger Davis.

Council, 10/24/1711:  petition of George Wortham, convicted in the General Court of killing RD.  "It being found by the Jury that the said Fact was committed se defendendo  The governor was pleased with the advice of the Council to order a pardon to be prepared for the said Wortham in the usual forme."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 288; Scott, Criminal Law, 198n14.

1713, June

Nansemond Co.


HOM MANSL:  Richard Oadham of Nansemond Co. m. Robert Trewren of Nansemond Co. (husband of Ann).  Beaten & bruised; died of his wounds in August.


Council, 6/10/1713:  RO had been taken into custody by the sheriff for trial, but has escaped.  RT's widow asks the Council to help in his apprehension.  Council ordered all officers of justice & other subjects of her majesty to apprehend RO & deliver him for justice.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 3:  May 1, 1705-October 23, 1721 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1928), 345-6, 597.

1723

King George Co.


MANSL:  David Seal, Mason French, and Joseph King m. Jonas Adams.  fG by General Court.

Council, 4/26/1723:  Council considered them fit objects of mery, so the Governor pardoned them of all pentalies & forfeitures "to wch they are lyable for the said Offence."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 31.

1723

Isle of Wight


HOM QUARREL:  Thomas Massy of Isle of Wight Co., laborer, m. a Nottoway Indian -- d. the next day after blows received from TM.  Alcohol involved.

Council, 10/19/1723:  the grand jury acquitted TM "for want of legal proof," but the Council says it appears that the Indian did die of wounds received from TM & fear the Nottoway will "be provok'd to revenge themselves if some Satisfaction be not given them."  The chiefs of the Nottoway & TM were examined by the Council.  Decision:  by consent of both parties, TM to pay 500 cubits of Roanoak [tobacco] in full satisfaction so that he "need not for the future be under the Apprehensions of any private Revenge or Injury."  TM also ordered to post bond for a year & a day for good behavior.  And since the quarrel between TM & the dead Indian "was occasion'd by his selling Rum and other strong Liquors to the said Indian," TM not to sell Rum, Brandy, or any other liquor to an Indian "whatsoever on pain of being prosecuted for the same wth the utmost Severity."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 52.

1727 or 1726


MANSL:  John Prowse of Hanover County m. a Saponie Indian.

Council, 4/26/1727:  "some time ago" John Prowse of Hanover County at a horse race on Maherine River "where a Saponie Indian was present & very much in drink, the said Prowse as the Indian lay asleep set fire to his Claothes whereby the said Indian was so grievously scorched and burnt that in a few days thereafter he died."  Council orders a proclamation for apprehending JP & carrying him to the public jail at Williamsburgh for his trial for the death of the Indian.  Reward of 10 l. from apprehending & bringing him to the public jail.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 133, 453.

1727

Elizabeth City Co.


HOM:  Hannah, a negro woman slave of George Walker of Eliz. City Co., convicted of murder.

Council, 6/15/1727:  the day before her execution was to take place, the sheriff died.  She is still in prison.  Council prepares a new warrant for her execution.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 141.  Scott, Criminal Law, 123n242.

* 1728, 1/29 (Weds. night)

Westmoreland Co.


HOM ARSON:  prob. crew of a convict ship m. a young white girl (12) who lived in the home of Thomas Lee.

Fire destroyed Mount Pleasant, the home of Thomas Lee of Westmoreland Co.  Cold, fire already beyond control when lst discovered.  "Lee had just enough time to push his pregnant wife, three small children and eight servants--all of them in their night clothes--out of the window before the roof collapsed.  A young white girl of twelve years of age perished in the flames."  All evidence pointed to arson:  no trace found of the large amount of money & silver plate that had been in the house.  Suspects:  crew of a convict ship who had sought revenge.  "Previously Lee had issued a warrant to the mate of the ship, allowing him to punish several of the crew."  Gov. Gooch offered 50 pound reward, but "it was generally felt that they had escaped to another colony."  Bounty granted by the crown to Lee, who was able to construct another dwelling, Stratford Hall.

Anne Staunton to Thomas Gooch, 2/25/1729, Gooch typescript, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.; Maryland Gazette, 2/4 & 3/4/1729; Gooch to Lords of Trade, 1/9/1730, PRO CO5/1322, Virginia Colonial Records Project microfilm, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.; Exec. Jour. Council Col. Va., 4: 196; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 134-5.

1729


MANSL:  Andrew Byrn, an overseer, m. a negro slave "under his care" by excessive correction.

Council, 6/12/1729:  convicted of murder of the slave at the Court of Oyer & Terminer on 6/10, sentenced to DEATH.  But evidence showed that the slave died "by means of the correction given him for running away, and that the said Byrn who was his Overseer had no intention to kill him."  Recommend him as an object of his Majesty's mercy, "and the rather for that the taking away the life of this man will, in all probability stir up the Negro's to a contempt of their Masters and Overseers, which may be attended with dangerous consequences to this Colony, wher the Negroes are so numerous."  Council asks Gov. to reprieve AB until his Majesty's pleasure be known.

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 206.  Scott, Criminal Justice, 120.

Andrew Bourne, an overseer, killed a slave in a fit of passion.  fG by jury of willful murder.  Governor Gooch requested clemency for Bourne, at the behest of the judges who sat on his trial, noting:


"the executing of him for this offense may make the slaves very insolent, and give them occasion to contemn their Masters and overseers, which may be of dangerous Consequences in a Country where the negroes are so numerous and make the most valuable part of the People's estates."  (quoted on 111-112)

Rankin (207):  The evidence "indicated that the slave had been an habitual runaway; Bourne had been so 'transported with anger' when the slave was caught that he had given him an 'immoderate correction,' and the Negro had died."

Gooch to "Your Grace," June, 1729, PRO CO5/1337, and Gooch to the Secretary of State, June 29, 1729, PRO CO5/1337, Va. Col. Rec. microfilm; Exec. Jour. Council Col. Va., 4: 206; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 112-113, 206-7.

1733

Goochland Co.


HOM:  Valentine and Champion [black] m. Robert Allen.


fG.  Hanged and quartered for treason.


Rankin:  the sheriff's expense account called for the payment of 2,000 pounds of tobacco,


"for providing Tarr, burying the trunk, cutting out the quarters, a Pott, Carts & horses, carrying and setting up the heads & quarters of the two Negroes at the places mentioned by order of the Court."

Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, 1 (January, 1894), 328-330; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 225.

1732 or 1733

DATE:  between 11 June 1732 and 10 June 1733

____ [6th yr. of his Majesty's reign]


HOM:  William Major m. John Crochford, mariner.

Council, 12/11/1734:  WM convicted at General Court in Williamsburg on 4/6 of the 6th yr. of his Majesty's reign.  Pardoned as part of a general pardon for the poor convicts of Newgate.  WM since deceased, but the pardon recorded "as a Testimony of his Majesties Clemency to that Offender."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 341.

1736
HOM / 2 EXECUTIONS
Virginia

GC


HOM by SERVANT of SERVANT:  Elizabeth Greenley [servant] m. her fellow servant.


fG.  DEATH.

VGaz, 11/5/1736:42  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "Last Wednesday [10/27] the Criminals, who were try'd at this General Court, were brought to the Bar, to receive their Sentence; when James Matthews, and Eliz. Greenley, both Convicts, received Sentence of Death; the Former for Horse-Stealing, and that Latter for the Murder of her Fellow Servant."

VGaz, 11/26/1736:42:  EXEC:  "This day" executed at "the usual place near this City."

* 1737 HOM
Lancaster Co.


HOM by SLAVE of SLAVE:  a Negro man belonging to Mr. Stepsoe m. a Negro man belonging to Mr. Secretary Carter

VGaz,  2/ 4/1737:32  Burning for murder by slaves in Lancaster Co., VA:  "Two Commissions for Courts of Oyer and Terminer, have been issued this week, for the Tryal of Negroes, One for Trying a Negro Woman, for the barbarous Murder of her Mistress, (Wife of Mr. Prudden, in Nansemond County) with a Broad Axe.  The other, for Trying a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Stepsoe, of Lancaster County, for killing a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Secretary Carter."

1737
HOM
Nansemond Co.


HOM by SLAVE of her MISTRESS:  a Negro woman belonging to Mr. Prudden m. her mistress, Mrs. Prudden, with a broad axe.


pG.  DEATH.  Burnt.

VGaz,  2/ 4/1737:32  Burning for murder by slaves in Nansemond Co., VA:  "Two Commissions for Courts of Oyer and Terminer, have been issued this week, for the Tryal of Negroes, One for Trying a Negro Woman, for the barbarous Murder of her Mistress, (Wife of Mr. Prudden, in Nansemond County) with a Board Axe.  The other, for Trying a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Stepsoe, of Lancaster County, for killing a Negro Man, belonging to Mr. Secretary Carter."

VGaz,  2/25/1737:41:  "The Negro Woman who lately kill'd her Mistress, in Nansemond, upon her Tryal confess'd the Fact, receiv'd Sentence of Death, and is since burnt."

Scott, Criminal Law, 197.

1737

York Co., VA


VGaz 4/1/1737:41:  SUSPICIOUS DEATH / do not count / ruled accidental or natural:  "Yesterday Morning, Capt. Baldwin Matthews, of York County, was found dead in his own House, sitting in a Chair with his Arms on a Table, his Head laid on them, and in a Posture as if he was asleep.  There was a large Wound found in his Head; which made it greatly suspected that he had been murder'd by some of his Negroes, One of them having about 4 Years ago knock'd him down with a Hough, and almost kill'd him:  But the Coroners Inquest which sat on the Body, found it accidental Death, it appearing to them by the Shape of the Wound, and some other Circumstances, that he had fallen against the Table, and received the fatal Wound thereby.  He was in the 68th Year of his age, and was possess'd of a plentiful Fortune, in Money, Land, and Negroes."

*  1737  HOM
Orange Co.

GC


HOM by RUNAWAY SERVANTS of FRONTIERSMAN:  Peter Heckie, Matthew O'Conner, Byran Conner, and William Marr m. Lifelet [Eliphalet] Larby.


WM confessed, 2 caught & fG.  PH & BC:  DEATH.

VGaz,  6/10/1737:41  Murder by indentured servants:  "We hear also, from Hanover County, That one William Marr, a Servant of Col. John Chiswell's, came from his said Master's, to the Court-house on Saturday last, and inform'd the King's Deputy Attorney, that he was concern'd in the Murder of a Man; upon which he took him before Robert Lewis, and richard Clough, Gent. Two of his Majesty's Justices of that County, where he voluntarily confess'd as follows:  That he ran away some Time ago, and joyn'd in Company with 3 other Servants, viz. Peter Heckie, Matthew O'Conner, and Bryan Conner, belonging to Capt. Avery, and his Son, on Prince William County, who were also ran away from their Masters; that he the said Marr, and the 3 other Servants, went far back in the Woods, and on the last Day of April, they came to a Cabbin near Great Cape Capon Creek, in Orange County, in which was one Lifelet Larby, (a Person who liv'd by Hunting) and after staying all Night with him, and being entertain'd as well as cou'd be expected in such a Place, the said Lifelet Larby having Occasion to go down among the Inhabitants, to buy Powder and Shot, he set out the next Day, and the said 4 Men with him, in seeming Friendship, about 250 Yards, and they suspecting the said Larby wou'd discover to the Inhabitants where the said Runaways were, one of them propos'd killing him, and it being consented to by the rest, Peter Heckie, the first Proposer, shot the said Lifelet Larby thro' the Back with a Gun of the said Lifelet,'s, and afterwards beat his Brains out with the But End thereof, and went away, leaving him in that Condition.  That the said marr being very uneasy in his Mind that he had consented to such a barbarous Murder, and being also apprehensive that the other 3 who were all Ship-Mates, and he a Stranger to them, might kill him too, took the first Oppertunity to leave them, and accordingly did; but being taken up in the lower Parts of Orange County, was sent from Constable to Constable to his late Master's House.  He having a remorse of Conscience, and being terrify'd (as he says) by the Apparition of the murder'd Man, he cou'd not rest till he discovere'd the Murder, and accordingly came to the Court house this Day, and made his Information and Confession, (which the above is the Substance of) which he sign'd; and was thereupon committed to the Goal of that County, in Order for a further Examination.


He gives a frightful Account of the Apparation of the murder'd Man's tormenting him; which seems incredible, and as if the Man was out of his Senses; but that the Circumstances of his whole Account of the Fact, the Pertinency of his Answers, and his Behaviour in the Examination, shew him to be otherwise.  He says, that upon his giving this Account, when he came back to the Inhabitants, Two Men with good Horses went in Pursuit of the said Three Men, who were gone towards Allegainy, far back beyond the Mountains, and were in Hopes of taking them."

VGaz,  9/16/1737:32  "In our Gazette No. 45, we gave an Account, That one William Marr, came to Hanover Court, surrendered himself, and confes'd, That he with Three others, (Runaway Servants,) had murder'd a Man in Orange County:  After his Examination before a Court call'd on Purpose, in Hanover County, where he repeated his Confession, he was sent to the Publick Goal, in this City:  But the others were escap'd.  We can now inform our Readers, that Two of them are taken up, and in Prison in Pennsylvania; of which His Honour our Governor having Information, He has been pleas'd to send a Special Messenger thither, to fetch them to this Government, in order to take their Trial at the next General Court.  There are now in the Publick Prison, no less than 10 Criminals; most of them Convicts, who, poor unhappy Wretches, cannot leave off their old Trade, tho' they have had fair Warning, and some of them narrowly escap'd the Gallows before."

VGaz, 10/21/1737:31  TRIAL:  at General Court, Wednesday last:  Peter Heckie & Bryan Connor, for murder.  ". . . The Confession of the said Marr being printed in this Gazette, and soon afterwards re-printed in the Philadelphia and other News-papers, was the Means of apprehending these Murderers, who fled from the Place where they had committed the Murder, and got into Business in Pennsylvania; and tho' they were dispers'd at many Miles Distance from each other, and thought themselves, secure, yet these Two were, by Means of the said Publications, discover'd, apprehended, and brought together to Justice.  The other named Matthew Conner, (for there were Four concern'd) is not yet taken; but as Murder seldom goes unpunish'd, it is not doubted but he will be discover'd, and meet with his deserv'd Fate.  On their Tryal, William Marr was admitted an Evidence; and the Prisoners at the Bar being conscious of their Guilt, soon confes'd, viz. Peter Heckie, that he shot the said Larby; and Bryan O'Conner, that he was so near at the Time he was kill'd, that he heard him say, The Lord have Mercy on my Soul, &c. which, with the Evidence of the said Marr, and other material Circumstances corroborating, were convincing to the Jury, who brought them in Guilty."

VGaz, 11/4/1737:  "Last Wednesday, Five Persons received Sentence of Death, viz., 2 for a Murder, 2 for House-breaking, and 1 for Horse-Stealing."

VGaz, 11/18/1737:  BC & PH executed "this day" about noon for the murder of Eliphalet Larby.

Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 208-211.  [see xeroxed notes]

*  1737

Orange Co.


HOM by SLAVE of his MASTER and another WHITE MAN:  a Negro man of Thomas Riddle m. his master (Thomas Riddle) and Richard Land.


Captured.

VGaz,  6/10/1737:41  Murder by slaves:  "We hear from Orange County, That a Negro Man, belonging to one Thomas Riddle, had lately kill'd his said master, and one Richard Land; then he took his Master's Horse and rode away; but we hear he is since taken."

1737

Virginia

GC


HOM UNKNOWN:  James Parmer [Farmer] m. ______.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/21/1737:32  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  General Court session held on Wednesday:  "James Parmer, for Murder.  Not try'd yet."

VGaz, 10/28/1737:31  "Since our last, James Farmer was try'd at the General Court, for Murder, and William Stevenson, for Counterfeiting and Uttering false Money; and both were acquitted."

* 1738

Orange Co.


VGaz 4/7/1738:  HOM by INDIANS:  "Last Week His Honour the Governor receiv'd Information, that Two White Men, Inhabitants of Orange County, had been lately kill'd by some Indians; and that further Danger was dreaded from them, by the Inhabitants of the Frontiers:  Whereupon His Honour was pleas'd to give Orders, that Arms and Ammunition should be sent from the Magazine, for the Use of the Inhabitants of those Parts; which is accordingly done.


VGaz 6/30/1738:  HOM by INDIANS:  "This Week an Express came here from Orange County, . . . That some Indians had lately murder'd Eleven White Persons, Men, Women, and Children, who were settled far back on the Frontiers of that County; and that twas believ'd to be Alleganey Indians."  Governor commissioned their pursuit by armed men & sent a messenger to the Indian settlement at Alleganey "to demand the Murderers, if they shall be found among them."


VGaz 7/21/1738:  HOM by INDIANS:  "We hear from the frontier counties, Prince William and Orange, that since our last Account of the Destruction of 3 Families of White People by the Indians, 4 more Families have been destroy'd by them; and that the whole Neighbourhood are under Apprehensions of greater Danger from the Indians, a great number of them being got together; but of what Nation I am not yet certainly informed."

* 1738             [[Spotsylvania]] Hanover Co.

GC


HOM ROBBERY:  Anthony Francis Dissond (a runaway convict servant) m. Mr. Evans, a coachmaker.


fG.  DEATH.

VGaz,  8/18/1738:41  Murder in Hanover Co., VA:  "We hear from Hanover County, That one Evans, a Coachmaker, who lately lived in this City, and removed to Rappahanock, was lately found murder'd in the Woods.  He had been travelling from Rappahanock to the mountainous Parts of Hanover, and unfortunately lodg'd at a House where there happened to be a Convict Runaway Servant, who saw Mr. Evans deliver for Safety a Hankerchief with Money in it, to the Master of the House where he lodged.  The Rogue was not then suspected to be a Runaway, and went from the House about the same Time as Mr. Evans did, and 'tis supposed, watch'd his Opportunity to rob him.  He was about 2 Days after, taken up for a Runaway, and had such a Hankerchief as Mr. Evans's is since described to be, and a considerable Sum of Money about him.  He was treated as a Runaway, and sent in Custody to his Master in Spotsylvania:  Since that, the Body of the said Evans has been found dead in the Woods, about 20 Miles from the House beforementioned, with his Scull fractur'd; and by all Circumstances, it's believed he was murdered and robb'd by the said Convict Runaway."  [DITTO:  in Boston Gazette, 9/18/1738.]


VGaz 8/25/1738:  last T, brought the jail in Wmsbg from Spotsylvania County for trial, "the wearing Apparel, Horse, Bridle, Saddle, and Portmanteau, &c. of the Deceased, being found upon him."

VGaz, 10/20/1738:32  Conviction for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  General Court on Thursday:  "Anthony Francis Dissond, from Spotsylvania County, was try'd for the Murder of Mr. Evans, the Coachmaker, formerly mention'd in his Paper, and convicted."

VGaz, 11/ 3/1738:61  Sentence for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  AFD sentenced to death for murder of AFD.  John Davis also sentenced to death, but for a felony.

VGaz, 11/24/1738:41  Execution for murder:  Nov. 24:  "This Day Anthony Francis Dissond, who receiv'd Sentence of Death, at the last General Court, for the Murder of Mr. Evans, the Coachmaker, was executed at the usual Place near this City.  He was a lusty Man, and after he had been turn'd off about 2 or 3 Minutes, the Executioner bore him down to strangle him and put him out of his Pain the sooner; in doing which, the Rope broke, and the Man fell down senseless and motionless; but in a short space of Time, he recovered his Senses, sate up, and talk'd again, begging the Minister and the Spectators heartily to pray for him.  Then got into the Cart again himself, and was hanged till he was dead.  His Corps was put into a Coffin; and we hear it is to be annatomiz'd by the Surgeons.  Whilst he was in Prison, he confess'd the Murder."

1738

Gloucester Co.

PN


HOM ROBBERY:  ____ m. a young man named Cozens (14).

VGaz, 11/24/1738:41  Murder in Gloucester Co., VA:  "We hear from Glocester County, That on Thursday or Friday last Week, the Son of one Mrs. Cozens, a Boy about 14 or 15 Years old, was found murder'd in his Bed, weltering in his Blood, having received a Cut on the Side of his Head, as if done with an Ax; and the House was rifled and robbed.  Mrs. Cozens, his Mother, who lived in a lonely Manner, within 4 or 5 Miles of Glocester Town, and had no other Family but this her only Son, and 'tis said had sav'd up a good Sum of Money, had Occasion to go, on that fatal Day, to sit up with a sick Neighbour, and would have taken her Son with her, but he chose rather to stay at home and look after the House, by himself.  In the Night, it's supposed, after the Boy was gone to Bed, some wicked Person or Persons, got into the House, broke open Chests and Boxes, to search for her Money, (which she had hid so securely that they cou'd not find it) and after taking some Linen and what other valuable Goods they thought fit, murder'd the Child, to prevent Discovery, then went off, and have not been heard of yet.  It's suppos'd, Two Persons were concern'd in it, some Tracts of Shoes, and others of bare Feet being seen about the House.


His Honour the Governor has this Day, been pleased to order a Proclamation to be issued, offering a Reward of 20 l. and a Pardon, to any of the Accomplices, (other than the Person who actually committed the Murder) that shall discover the Author thereof, so as he or she be lawfully convicted."

1739

Gloucester Co.


VGaz 2/2/1739:  HOM MANSL:  "We hear from Glocester County, That on Thursday Night was Se'nnight, a Man who had been drinking at the Ordinary near the Court-house, being quarrelsome and troublesome to the Company, was, by a Man belonging to the House, push'd out of the Door, and missing his Step, fell backwards, and with the Fall and the Liquor together, dy'd soon after.  The Coroner's Inquest sate on the Body, and brought in their Verdict, Accidental Death."

1739

Essex Co.

GC


HOM by OVERSEER and ASSISTANT of a SLAVE:  David White [accessory] and Charles Quin [overseer] m. a Negro, belonging to Col. Braxton.


Whipped him to death.


fG.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz, 11/ 2/1739:41  Execution for murder:  "This Day the following 9 Malefactors, who were tried and convicted this General Court, receiv'd sentence of death, viz.:"  [including most for felony]

"David White and Charles Quin, from Essex County, for the Murder of a Negro." . . . 

VGaz, 11/23/1739:  "This Day 7 of the 9 Malefactors, who receiv'd Sentence of Death, at the last General Court, were carried from the Public Prison, to the usual Place of Execution, and were hang'd, viz."  [two of the accessories to robbery were pardoned by the Governor.]


"Charles Quin, an Overseer, and David White, an Accessory, from Essex County, for the Murder of a Negro, belonging to Col. Braxton, by Whipping him to Death, in a most cruel and barbarous Manner."

1739

Essex Co.

GC


HOM by WHITE SERVANT of a NEGRO WOMAN:  John Cabidge [servant] m. a Negro woman.


Ax.  No provocation.


fG.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz, 11/ 2/1739:41  Execution for murder:  "This Day the following 9 Malefactors, who were tried and convicted this General Court, receiv'd sentence of death, viz.:"  [including most for felony]


"John Cabidge, from Essex County, for the Murder of a Negro."

VGaz, 11/23/1739:  "This Day 7 of the 9 Malefactors, who receiv'd Sentence of Death, at the last General Court, were carried from the Public Prison, to the usual Place of Execution, and were hang'd, viz."  [two of the accessories to robbery were pardoned by the Governor.]


"John Cobidge, a Servant, from Essex County, for the Murder of a Negro Woman, by killing her with an Axe, without any Provocation."

* 1739

Richmond Co.

GC


MANSL QUARREL:  John Oldham [Northfarnham Parish] m. John Hutchins.


fG.  Burnt in the hand with a cold Iron.

Fighting on the ground and quarreling, 10/30/1739, in Dews Race Ground, where many people were gathered and quarreling.  William Creele, striped, was standing over them, helped them up several times, and cheered John Oldham on.  [Clear it was a fight that was not meant to end in death--seems that JH landed wrong, and fancied himself quite a fighter.]

VGaz, 12/14/1739:31  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the Court of Oyer and Terminer, held here this week, the Three following Persons were try'd, viz. . . .  John Oldham, for Manslaughter; convicted, and burnt in the Hand with a cold Iron; Jonathan Faithful, for Felony, convicted, and received Sentence of Death."  [VGaz 1/4/1740:  JF was executed.  Details.]


Hoffer, Criminal Proceedings, 195-8.

1745

Chesapeake Bay

PN


HOM by SERVANTS of a SHIP'S CAPTAIN:  Alexander Jamieson and John Sherum [indentured servants] m. Mr. Tobias Horton [their skipper]


VGaz,  9/26/1745:41  Murder by indentured servants:


"                          Northumberland, Sept. 18, 1745.


WHEREAS, Alexander Jamieson and John Sherum, two Servant Men, belonging to me, as they were returning from Norfolk, in a small Schooner, on Wednesday the 4th Instant, did barbarously murder Mr. Tobias Horton, their Skipper, (his Body having been since found on the Bay Shore, nigh Windmill Point) and ran away with the Vessel and Cargoe, a Description whereof followeth, viz.


The Schooner was about 300 Bushels Burden, goes very well, was newly repair'd, and has higher Masts than is common for such a Vessel, the Foremast is of Cypress, but the other being broke, by heaving down, a new Pine one was put in.


The Skipper, when ashore at Indian Creek, told of his having three Hogsheads of Rum, one Suit of dark coloured, double Allspeen Cloaths, lined with Scarlet Allspeen, and had Gold Buttons; also a blue Silk Vest, with Silver Buttons; and two Dozen Wool Cards; but as there was several other Things wrote for, it's not doubted but they were on board likewise.  It's probable they will wear the Cloaths.


Alexander Jamieson, a Scots Man, by Trade a Weaver, is a well-set, brisk, little Fellow, about 5 Feet 4 Inches high, a little mark'd with the Small-pox, he commonly used to wear a small blue Jacket (made after the Sailor's Manner;) but as he has other Cloaths with him, he will no doubt use them, particularly a dark coloured Bear-skin Coat, with a small Velvet Neck, and yellow Metal Buttons.


John Sherum, a English Man, and pretends to be a Baker, is a little larger in Stature, well-look'd, and of a grave Behaviour; had on a light Drab colour'd Coat, with large, flat, white Metal, or Silver Plate Buttons; he has likewise a Suit of old, blue Broad-Cloth Cloaths, with him.


As Jamieson has been used to go by Water, they will probably pass for Sailors, and endeavour to make their Escape, by getting on board some Vessels, outward bound; wherefore it is expected all Commanders will strictly examine their Crew before sailing, to prevent, if possible, the Escape of such barbarous Murderers.


                                David Galloway."

Hue & cry issued by Governor William Gooch--10 l. reward for apprehension of one or both.  David Galloway offers reward of 10 pistoles for return of the schooner & cargo to him on Wicomico River, Northumberland Co.

1745

Virginia

GC


HOM UNKNOWN:  William Holloway m. _____.


Death.  Executed.

VGaz, 11/ 7/1745:31  Sentence for murder:  "On Monday last, being the last Day of the General Court, the following Persons, viz. William Holloway, for Murder, and Arthur Dolfin, for Felony, receiv'd Sentence of Death . . . ."

VGaz, 12/ 5/1745:41  Execution for murder:  "Last Friday William Holloway, who receiv'd sentence of Death last General Court, for Murder, was executed, at the Gallows near this City."

1751

Virginia

GC


HOM:  James McGuire m.


Executed.

VGaz,  1/24/1751:41  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday last James McGuire for Murder, and William Simmons for Robbery, (suppos'd an Accomplice in the Murder of Col. Presley) were executed in this City.  [Williamsburg]  They both behaved penitently, and confress'd the Facts for which they died."

1751

Virginia

GC


HOM ROBBERY?:  William Simmons & others m. Col. Presley.


WS was executed.

VGaz,  1/24/1751:41  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday last James McGuire for Murder, and William Simmons for Robbery, (suppos'd an Accomplice in the Murder of Col. Presley) were executed in this City.  [Williamsburg]  They both behaved penitently, and confress'd the Facts for which they died."

1751

Nansemond Co.

GC


HOM INSANE:  George Kier m. Samuel Milner


fG.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz,  1/24/1751:41  Murder in Nansemond Co., VA:  "Yesterday was brough to the public Goal, George Kier, a Lunatic, for the Murder of Samuel Milner of Nansemond, by shooting him through the Head with a Pistol Ball.  He has been disordered in his Senses for some Time, and is not in the least sensibole that he committed the Murder."

VGaz,  4/18/1751:31  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "The Trial of George Carr, from Nansemond, for the Murder of Samuel Milner, is continued to October."

VGaz, 10/17/1751:31  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the General Court held Yesterday and To-day, the following Criminals were brought to their Trial, viz.


George Kerr, from Norfolk, for Murder, guilty.  Death. . . ."

VGaz, 12/27/1751:32  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "George Kerr and Henry Stanworth, condemned for Murder, at the General Court in October, were executed on Friday last."

1751

Northumberland Co.

GC


MANSL:  Thomas Smith k. Robert Knowles


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/18/1751:22  Mansl. Northumberland Co., VA:  "Thomas Smith, from Northumberland, was convicted of the Manslaughter of Robert Knowles."

VGaz,  5/ 9/1751:32  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "Thomas Smith, for Manslaughter . . . were burnt in the hand."

* 1751

Spotsylvania Co.

GC


MANSL:  William Manissee k. _____.


Indicted for manslaughter, fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1751:22  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, Co., VA:  "William Maissee, from Spotsylvania was indicted for Manslaughter but acquitted."

1751, Jan 20                     King George Co. (Leedstown)

PN


HOM:  Jonathan Piper m. James Marshall.

VGaz,  4/25/1751:31  Murder in Leedstown, VA:  Hue and Cry issued by Lewis Burwell, president of the Council:  "WHEREAS it has been represented to me, That a horrible Murder was committed at Leeds Town, in the County of King George, on the 20th Day of January last past, by Jonathan Piper, of the County of Westmoreland, on the body of James Marshall, deceas'd, of the same county:  And whereas the said Jonathan Piper, conscious of his Crime, has fled from his usual Place of Abode, whereby the ordinary Process at Law cannot be served on him:"  20 Pounds reward for bringing him to justice.  [no description]

1751

York Co.

GC


HOM:  Henry Stanworth m. _____.


fG.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz, 10/11/1751:31  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "The following Prisoners are now in the Public Goal here; their Trials will come on before the General Court on Wednesday next. . . .  Henry Stanworth, from York, for murder."

VGaz, 10/17/1751:31  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the General Court held Yesterday and To-day, the following Criminals were brought to their Trial, viz. . . .


Henry Stanworth, from York, for Murder, guilty.  Death."

VGaz, 12/27/1751:32  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "George Kerr and Henry Stanworth, condemned for Murder, at the General Court in October, were executed on Friday last."

1751

Norfolk Co.

GC


HOM:  Richard Burk m. ____.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/17/1751:31  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the General Court held Yesterday and To-day, the following Criminals were brought to their Trial, viz. . . .


Richard Burk, from Norfolk, for Murder, acquitted. . . ."

* 1751

Augusta Co.

GC


HOM:  Day Throughgood m. his Master, James Conerly.


fG.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz, 12/12/1751:32  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the Court of Oyer and Terminer, held the 10th, 11th & 12th of this Instant, the following Criminals were brought to their Trial, viz.
Day Thoroughgood, from Augusta, for the Murder of his Master James Conerley, guilty.  Death."

VGaz,  1/10/1752:32  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "This Day Peter Bateman for Felony, and Day Throughgood for Murder, condemned at the Court of Oyer and Terminer in December last, were executed in this City."

[copied to Augusta Co. file]

1751

Culpepper Co.

GC


MANSL:  John Floy a. ____.


Burnt in the hand.

VGaz, 12/12/1751:32  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the Court of Oyer and Terminer, held the 10th, 11th & 12th of this Instant, the following Criminals were brought to their Trial, viz. . . .


John Floy, from Culpepper, for Manslaughter.  Burnt in the Hand."

1752

Culpepper Co.

GC


HOM:  Ambrose Bucker m. ____.


fNG.

VGaz,  4/30/1752:22  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "The following Persons, indicted for Felony, were brought to their Trials, before the General Court, on the 16th and 17th Instant, viz. . . .


Ambrose Bucker, from Culpepper, for Murder, acquitted."

1752

Virginia

GC


HOM:  John Trotman and John Sparks m. James Fox.


fG.  Death.  JS executed.  JT's sentence respited.

VGaz,  6/12/1752:21  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the Court of Oyer and Terminer, which began on Tuesday last, the following Persons were brought to their Trials, viz.

John Trotman, and John Sparks, for the Murder of James Fox, guilty.  Death."

VGaz,  7/ 3/1752:31  Execution for murder:  "On Wednesday last John Sparks, confin'd in the Public Goal, under Sentence of Death, for the Murder of James Fox, contriv'd to saw off his Irons in the Day Time, and at Night, as soon as the Goaler open'd the Prison Door, knock'd him down with a Quart Bottle, and made his Escape.--He was apprehended Yesterday Evening, and brought to Town this Morning, and to prevent a Possibility of his escaping the Justice his Crime deserv'd, was this Day executed at the Gallows.  He confessed himself guilty of the Murder, but entirely acquitted James Trotman, who was sentenc'd with him at the same Time, and whose Execution is respited."

Rankin:  "John Sparks appears to have been an habitual criminal.  Earlier this same year the king had remitted a fine of l.25, imposed upon Sparks for attempted highway robbery.  This had been a concession to the "unhappy Circumstances of his Family," and because he was "a Youth under Age."  Holderness to the Lords of Trade, March 26, 1752, PRO CO5/1327, Va. Col. Rec. microfilm.

Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 114n62.

[[PROBABLY SAME CASE:

Governor requested a pardon for a servant who had been cleared by the confession of his alleged accomplice, "but a pardon was still required from the king once a person had been convicted."

Dinwiddie to "Right Honourable," 7/20/1752, PRO CO5/1338, Va. Col. Rec. microfilm; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 207-8.]]

1752

Frederick Co.

GC


HOM:  Zebulon Hollingsworth m. ____.


bnf.

VGaz, 10/20/1752:21  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the General Court held on Monday and Tuesday last the following Criminals were brought to the Trials, viz. . . .


Zebulon Hollingsworth, from Frederick, for Murder, acquitted by the Grand Jury."

1752

Fairfax Co.

GC


HOM / JUSTIFIED:  Thomas Kelly a. Thomas Davis.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/20/1752:21  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the General Court held on Monday and Tuesday last the following Criminals were brought to the Trials, viz. . . .

Thomas Kelly, from Fairfax, for shooting Thomas Davis, a notorious Robber and Horse-stealer, acquitted by the Petit-Jury."

[[No notice of a trial for Thomas Davis:  assume Davis was killed, as it would not have been a felony otherwise.]]

1752

VA

GC


HOM:  William Coulter m. 


bnf.

VGaz, 12/15/1752:31  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "At the Court of Oyer & Terminer, began on Tuesday last, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz.

. . . William Coulter, for Murder, Acquitted by the Grand Jury."

1753





Pocomoke, ACCOMACK Co.


MGAZ 12/6/1753:  HOM OVERSEER by SLAVES in VA:  3 weeks ago, two negro men m. one Jones, their overseer.  Jones ordered the negroes early in the morning to go to their work; "and getting up soon after, and going with his Slaves supposed into the Quarter, and finding the Negroes there, he struck one of them for not minding his Orders; and soon after stooping down to buckle his Shoes, one of the negroes struck him with an Axe on the back of his Head, and knock'd out his Brains; after which they carried his Body and burnt it in a Parcel of Brush.  Some of his small Bones were afterwards found where the Fire was made, but his Thighs, with the Flesh much parched up, and other Parts, were found buriend in different Places."  Jailed in Accomack jail; confessed.


MGAZ 12/13/1753:  "we have heard that when the Negroes flung the Body into the Fire, thinking it was dead, it began to stir, and was crawling out of the Fire, when they struck him several Blows on the Head, with a Billet of Wood,k and flung him in again; but not being yet quite Dead, and beginning to stir as before, they cut off his Head; and, after burning, buried his Head, Body, and Limbs, in different Places."


MGAZ 2/21/1754:  the 2 negro men since executed.

1754

King William Co.

PN


HOM:  John Wilson & Zachariah Johns m.


Jailed on suspicion of murder; escaped.


Council, Proclamation of 10/31/1754:  reward.  JW (mulatto, 6', speaks good English, a blue double-breasted waistcoat with metal buttons, an old yellow wig, old shoes, & worsted hose).  ZJ (6', fair complexion, large & raw-boned; a blue waistcoat, sailor's trousers, a blak wig, old shoes, black worsted hose).

In Virginia Gazette (Hunter), 11/7/1754.  NOTE:  CAPPON's INDEX DID NOT NOTE THIS CASE.  CAPPON DID NOT DO THE ADS & PROCLAMATIONS!!!

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 586-7.

* 1755

Sussex Co.

GC


HOM:  John Turner m.


fG.  Death.

VGaz,  4/18/1755:22  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Wednesday and Thursday last,the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz.

John Turner, from Sussex, for Murder, guilty.  Death."

VGaz,  5/ 9/1755:21  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "Last Tuesday the following Criminals who were convicted at the Beginning of the Court, received Setence, viz. John Turner, for Murder, Death."

VGaz,  5/23/1755:21  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "This Day John Turner, for Murder, and Mary Murray, alias Clark, alias Atkins, were executed at the Gallows near this City."

* 1755

Augusta Co.

GC


HOM:  Robert Hamilton m.


fNG.  

VGaz,  4/18/1755:22  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Wednesday and Thursday last, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz. . . .


Robert Hamilton, from Augusta, for Murder, acquitted."

[copied to Aug. Co. file]

1755

Essex Co.

GC


HOM:  Alexander Rigsby m.


Indicted for Murder.  fG of MANSL.  

VGaz,  4/18/1755:22  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Wednesday and Thursday last, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz. . . .


Alexander Rigsby, from Essex, for Murder, convicted of Manslaughter."

* 1755

Spotsylvania Co.

GC


HOM:  John Morton m.


Murder.  Discharged.

VGaz, 10/24/1755:21  Murder trial:  "On Wednesday and Thursday, the 16th and 17th Instant, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz. . . .


John Morton, from Spotsylvania, for Murder, discharged. . . 

1755

King George Co.

GC


HOM:  John Nicolas m.


Murder.  fG.

VGaz, 10/24/1755:21  Murder trial:  "On Wednesday and Thursday, the 16th and 17th Instant, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz. . . .


John Nicolas, from King George, for Murder, convicted. . . .

VGaz, 11/14/1755:21  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Wednesday the 5th Instant, the following Criminals received Sentence, viz. . . .


John Nicholas, for Murder, Death. . . .

1755

King George Co.

GC


HOM:  John Goble m.


Murder.  fG of MANSL.

VGaz, 10/24/1755:21  Murder trial:  "On Wednesday and Thursday, the 16th and 17th Instant, the following Criminals were brought to their Trials, viz. . . .


John Goble from Prince William, for Murder, guilty of Manslaughter."

VGaz, 11/14/1755:21  Execution for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Wednesday the 5th Instant, the following Criminals received Sentence, viz. . . .


John Goble, for Manslaughter, burnt in the Hand."

1762, Nov. 21


HOM:  English rioters (seamen from the Arundel) m. 2 Spanish soldiers or sailors in Portsmouth, VA.

Council, 11/30/1762:  a quarrel between the English seamen & the Spanish sailors or soldiers.  The English "drove the Spaniards to the House where they lodged, fir'd into it, kill'd two and wounded several others; that they burst into the Commandant's House, beat him, and one of the Cpatians, wounded most of his Domestics, plunder'd and robb'd the House of Money and other things of value."  Would have been more fatalities & damage, had Capt. Mainwaring not come & "dispersed his people, on which the rest went off."  The militia of Norfolk came over & a strong guard was kept all night.  At the request of Don Pedro, houses were hired in Norfolk & the Spaniards & their baggage moved on 11/22.  Several of the rioters were jailed.  Don Pedro & the owners of the houses they rented in Portsmouth seek financial relief and some compensation from the govt.  Govt seeks the perpetrators & promises justice.  (240-1)

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 240-2, 244, 247-9..

1763

Chesterfield Co.

GC


HOM:  John Sims m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz, 11/ 4/1763:21  Mansl. burning in hand in Williamsburg, VA:  "This day the following criminals were brought to the bar of the General-Court, to receive sentence, viz. . . .


John Sims, from Chesterfield, for manslaughter:  burnt in the hand."

* 1765

CC, 6/17/1765:  dtl Philadelphia, 6/6:  HOM in VA:  hear from Virginia that a party of Cherokee Indians had arrived at Stanton, in Augusta Co., on their way to Winchester, having a pass from Col. Lewis.  On their way thither, attacked by upwards of 20 men:  their chief, with 4 more Indians, were killed, & 2 others wounded.  Proclamation:  reward offered for murderers.  [[THE CASE I HAVE NOTES ON ALREADY]]

* 1765


HOM:  English men m. 5 Cherokees (including one chief).

Council, Minutes, 5/13/1765:  Letter from Col. Andrew Lewis "giving a relation of some Cherokees being murderd by our people etcetera."  Reward for capture of the "promoters" of the said murder & for those "aiding therein."  (683)

Proclamation, 5/13/1765:  The victims were members of a party of Cherokees murdered on their way from Staunton (in Augusta Co.) to Winchester.  Had received a pass from Col. Lewis for that purpose.  Proclamation uses strong language to condemn the murders.  (600)

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 600, 683.

1765


HOM:


Jury brought in a guilty verdict when judges thought the charge should have been manslaughter.  Governor requested a pardon.

Fauquier to the Board of Trade, 8/1/1765, PRO CO5/1345, Va. Col. Rec. microfilm; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 207-8.

1765, Sept. 4
Dumfries, Prince William

P

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM DUEL

Motive:  [POLITICAL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:  W

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


HOM:  a young gentleman m. Col. John Baylis


Weapon:  pistols, shot in thigh and groin.  d. 5 hrs.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  

Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  

Source:  
Newspaper:

MGaz 9/12/1765:  dtl Annapolis, Md:  a letter from VA, which the author asked the MGaz to print, that W morning last at Dumfries, VA, "A Challenge having been sent by a young Gentleman to Col. John Baylis, was accepted, and the parties met; when the Second to the Challenger took up the Cause, and engaged Mr. Baylis, with Pistols; The first Fire hit Col. Baylis in the Thigh and Groin, which prov'd Mortal, and about 5 Hours after he Expired.  Both the Combatants were Gentlemen of Character, and had Families, who by this rash Encounter must be made unhappy, in which their numerous Friends participate."  //  note:  on M of that week [9/2], at Dumfries, the effigies of ___, a native of Virginia, lately arrived there from England with the commission for the Stamp Distribution, "was exposed thro' the streets of the Town, accompanied by Hundreds of all Ranks."  On horseback with its face towards the horse's tail, and a copy of the Stamp Act tied around its neck with a halter.  "And receiv'd the Insults of the Congregation, by Caneing, Whipping, (the Mosaic Law) Pillorying, Cropping, Hanging and Burning, &c. &c."  [[The two events appear to have been related, but are simply noted in sequence in the original letter, the Stamp Act demonstration first]  [BNL 10/3/1765]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:
Col. John Baylis

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1766

Hampshire Co.

GC


HOM:  Robert Higgans m. 


fG.

VGaz,  6/13/1766:21  PD  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Tuesday and Wednesday last the following criminals were brought to the bar of the General Court, to take their trials, viz. . . .


Robert Higgans, from Hampshire, for murder:  Guilty."

1766

Cumberland Co.


HOM:  John Chiswell, Esq. m. Robert Routlidge.

VGaz,  6/20/1766:23  PD  Murder in Cumberland Co., VA:  "to the PRINTER.  UPON an inquisition taken before the Coroner in Cumberland county, Robert Routlidge was found to be murdered (Jue 3rd) by a sword in the hand of John Chiswell, Esq; whereupon he was committed to the county prison, and the examining Court, upon full evidence (refusing to bail him on a motion for that purpose) ordered him to the publick prison, as the law directs, to be tried for murder.  But before he was delivered to the keeper of the publick prison, the Judges of the General Court, out of sessions, took him from the Sheriff who conveyed him from Cumberland, and admitted him to bail, without seeing the record of his edxamination in the county, or examining any of the witnesses against him.  I ask, whether this act of the three Judges of the General Court be legal.  If it is legal, I have nothing more to say.  If it is not legal, then I ask whether the act of these Judges has not a tendency to overturn the laws and constitution of the country, by their exercising an extrajudicial power and controuling the course of law in a case of the highest consequence to the safety of the subject?  Whether the bail taken by these Judges in an extrajudicial manner can be liable on their recognizances, if Mr. Chiswell should not appear to take his trial?  If they are not liable, whether it is not in fact a rescue, under pretence of law, of a person charged with an atrocious crime?  And further, if it is a rescue, whether the sheriff, Mr. Jesse Thomas, is not still liable to a prosecution, for not taking those measures to recover his prisoner as are proper to be taken when a prisoner is rescued."


VGaz,  7/18/1766:21  PD  Murder in Cumberland Co., VA:  XEROXED.


VGaz,  8/22/1766:11  PD  Evils of murder discussed:  XEROXED.

VGaz, 10/17/1766:31  PD:  "On Wednesday last, about 11 o'clock in the afternoon, died, at his house in this city, Col. John Chiswell, after a short illness.  The cause of his death, by the judgment of the physicians, upon oath, were nervous fits, owing to a constant uneasiness of the mind."  [Scott says Chiswell committed SUICIDE.]

CC, 9/15/1766:  account of the Chiswel-Rutledge murder in Virginia.  LONG DETAILED ARTICLE.  But no new particulars.  Writer angry about JS's admission to bail, etc.

Scott, 63-4:  controversial when the General Court admitted Chiswell to bail, even though murder & manslaughter (even in self-defense) were not bailable offenses.  Intense debate.  Chiswell committed suicide soon after the murder.

Arthur P. Scott, Criminal Law in Colonial Virginia (Chicago:  Univ. of Chicago Press, 1930), 63-4.

Source documents on public reaction & on Chiswell's death:  WMQ, 2:  239;  WMQ, 27:  301; & Magazine of American History, 30:  129.

1766

Charlotte Co.

GC


HOM:  Kerish Ogletree m. 


Murder.  fNG.

VGaz, 10/17/1766:31  PD  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  "Yesterday and this day the following criminals were brought to the bar of the General Court to take their trials, viz. . . .


Kerish Ogletree, from Charlotte, for murder.  Acquitted. . . ."

1767


HOM or AIK?  4 "Negroes" conspired to poison their overseers.


fG.  Hanged & their heads ordered fixed to the chimneys of the courthouse in Alexandria.

Boston Chronicle, 1/18/1768:  dtl Boston.  "From Alexandria, in Virginia, we learn that a number of negroes there had lately conspired to poison their overseers, and that several persons have lost their lives in consequence thereof; that some of the negroes have been taken up, four of whom were executed about three weeks ago, after which their heads were cut off, and fixed on the chimnies of the court-house; and it was expected that four more would soon met with the same fate."

Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 225-6; Scott, Criminal Law, 196.

1767

Elizabeth City Co.

GC


HOM:  John Lane m.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/22/1767:21  PD  Sentence for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday and Saturday last the folloiwng criminals took their trials, viz. . . .


John Lane, from Elizabeth City, for murder:  Acquitted. . . 

1767

Buckingham Co.

GC


HOM:  John Cabell m.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/22/1767:21  PD  Sentence for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday and Saturday last the folloiwng criminals took their trials, viz. . . .


John Cabell, from Buckingham, for murder.  Acquitted. . . ."

1767

Norfolk Co.

GC


HOM:  Jonathan Hendrickson m.


Mansl.  fNG.

VGaz, 10/22/1767:21  PD  Sentence for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday and Saturday last the folloiwng criminals took their trials, viz. . . .


Jonathan Hendrickson, from Norfolk, for manslaughter:  Acquitted. . . ."

1767

Pittsylvania Co.

GC


HOM:  William Young m.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/22/1767:21  PD  Sentence for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  "On Friday and Saturday last the folloiwng criminals took their trials, viz. . . .


William Young, from Pittsylvania, for murder.  Acquitted."

*  1767

Brunswick Co.

GC & PN


HOM:  Joshua Smith m. Bowman, a negro man slave belonging to Daniel Fisher.


Acquitted.

VGaz, 12/24/1767:32  R   Murder in Brunswick Co., VA:  Hue & Cry by Gov. Francis Fauquier:  "WHEREAS I have received certain information that one Joshua Smith of Brunswick, was, at a court held for the said county in October last, after due examination had, on a suspicion of murder committed by him on the body of Bowman, a negro man slave belonging to Daniel Fisher, remanded to gaol, the court being of opinion that he ought to be tried for the said offence at the next court of Oyer and Terminer in Williamsburg; and that he has since made his escape:  In order that the said Smith may be dealt with according to law, I have thought proper, by and with the advice of his Majesty's council, to issue this proclamation in his Majesty's name."  20 Pounds reward for apprehending and securing him.

VGaz,  4/21/1768:23  PD  dlt Wmsb:  General Court, last Sat. & M:  Joshua Smith from Brunswick, for murder, acquitted.


jailed, Co. court determined he would be tried at next General Court, but he escaped.


Council, Proclamation, 12/9/1767:  reward for his capture, in Virginia Gazette (Rind), 12/24/1767.

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 608.

1768

Williamsburg, VA?


MANSL of SLAVE by THIRD-PARTY SLAVE in QUARREL WITH WIFE:  

VGaz,  7/14/1768:31  R   Murder by slave.  dlt Wmsburg:  MANSL:  "On Saturday night last, a Negro man and his wife having a quarrel, proceeding from jealousy, the wench so provoked the man, that in a rage, he threw away a hatchet he was at work with (it is said, not aiming it at any one) but unfortunately a very valuable Negro man happened to come just in its way, whom it struck on the forehead, and he is since dead."  [[Did this happen in Wmsburg, or in Charles City Co.]]

1768

#13 CJNH, 1/15/1768 (F):  (1:2)  dtl Philadelphia, 12/28:  HOM / EXEC in VA:  [true story?]  "A gentleman from Alexandria in Virginia, informs us, that a number of Negroes of that place, had entered into a conspiracy to destroy their overseers by poison, in consequence of which several persons had lost their lives:  That some of the Negroes were soon discovered and properly secured,---four of whom were convicted and executed about three weeks ago, after which their heads were cut off, and fixed upon the chimnies of the Court-House of Alexandria, and that four more it was expected, would meet the same fate."

* 1768

Spotsylvania Co.

GC


MANSL:  Andrew Lleitch m. 


fNG.

VGaz, 12/15/1768:23  PD  Trial for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T lat at Court of O&T:  Andrew Lleitch from Spotsylvania for manslaughter, acquitted.

1769


HOM of INDIAN by VIRGINIAN:  __ White & a convict servant of Capt. Crawford [named Ingham?] m. Stephen (an Indian).

Council, 10/31/1769:  had some time before killed an Indian named Stephen.  Had been apprehended & jailed in Winchester, and been since rescued.  "that Abraham Fry at the head of about Seventy men, with three of his brothers Jacob, Joseph, and Benjamin Fry, and one Joseph Black were the most active in the said rescue."  Atty Gen ordered to bring offenders to justice.  (331)

Council, 2/20/1770:  Ingham [aka Ingman] jailed in Williamsburg for murder of Stephen, an Indian.  Killed on Irishman's run, which may lie in Pennsylvania.  Question of who should try Ingham.  (340-1)

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 331, 340-1, 388.

1769

Fairfax Co.

GC


HOM:  James Hurst m.


Ind. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/20/1769:23  R   Trial for mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsburg:  HOM:  at General Court, James Hurst, from Fairfax Co. for murder, fG of mansl.  VGaz,  5/11/1769:s33 PD (& R 32):  burnt in hand.

1769

Augusta Co.

GC


HOM:  Robert McMahon [McMachen] m.


fG of murder.  Death.  Executed.

VGaz,  4/20/1769:23  R   Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsburg:  HOM:  at General Court, Robert McMahon [McMachen] from Augusta Co., for murder, guilty.  VGaz,  5/11/1769:s33 PD (& R 32):  Death.  VGaz,  6/ 1/1769:23  PD  (& R 31)  Executed.

[copied to Aug. Co. file]

1769

Frederick Co.

GC


MANSL:  Matthias Hite m.


Indict. for mansl.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  6/15/1769:31 PD  Mansl. burning in hand in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of Oyer & Terminer, T & W last.  Matthias HIte, from Frederick, for manslaughter.  Guilty.  Burnt in the hand.

1769, May 29 (night)

Stafford Co.

PN & CT


HOM by SLAVES of MASTER:  Phill, Winny, & a woman house slave m. John Knox (their master).


fG of murder.  Executed.


VGaz,  6/15/1769:32  PD  (& R 23)  Murder in Stafford Co. 
VA:  "L. 105 Reward.  On the night of the 29th ult. our brother, John Knox, was most barbarously murdered near the door of his dwelling house, in Stafford, by a person or persons unknown.  We hereby offer a reward of 50 l. to any person or persons who will apprehend and secure the offender or offendres, so that he or they may be convicted of the same.  And whereas there were two of his (our brother's) slaves outlying at and some time before his death, which were outlawed, and if apprehended would have been tried for felony, whom we with some reason suspect are principally concerned in the horrid murder, particularly the fellow, named Phill, we therefore offer a reward of 50 l. to any person or persons who shall take up and secure him in jail, so that he may be brought to trial, and 5 l. for apprehending the wench Winny, and securing her also.  The slave named Phill, or Philip, is about 30 years of age, about 5 feet 7 or 8 inches high, very well made, broad and full faced, has a scar on his forehead in the form of a cross, several scars on his head, and wants four of his upper fore teeth.  Winny is of much the same age, her size smaller than the other, but very strong and likely.  They both went off together, and have been several times taken up, first at Sniggar's Gap, in Frederick, afterwards in Loudon county; but, being very crafty and artful, they have always contrived to make their escape.  They have endeavoured to pass for free Negroes, and have shewn some forged indentures, with certificates of their freedom thereon; the fellow passing by the name of Daniel Watts, and the woman by that of Mimy Howard.  They have such variety of clothes that their dress cannot be described.  We farther offer the first mentioned 50 l. reward to the person or persons who apprehends the Negro fellow, if he is convicted of the murder.



Witness our hands, June 1, 1759.



Robert Knox



William Knox"

VGaz,  7/20/1769:22  R:  dtl Wmsb:  "We hear from Stafford County, that the two slaves advertised in our Gazette of the 15th and 29th ult. for the murder of Mr. Knox, have been apprehended, tried, and condemned, together with one of the house wenches; and on the 11th instant two of them were hanged at Stafford court house, and the third was to be executed last Tuesday, at the same place."

*  1769

York Co.


HOM HUSBAND:  Mrs. Thompson of York m. her husband with an axe as he slept.


Bnf insane.  Found deranged, and not brought to trial.
Virginia Gazette, 7/6/1769 PD: 32, R: 31.  dtl Wmsb:  "Yesterday morning the following melancholy accident happened near York.  [[Cappon index says Yorktown]]  One Mr. Thompson having been early out about his plantation affairs, came home when it grew hot, and laid down upon a bed, and fell asleep, when his wife (who has been long disordered in her senses, and has been several times confined) got an ax, with which she struck him on the head, and killed him as he lay."

Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 226.

1769

Northumberland Co.

PN


MANSL:  Rawleigh Bryant (master or overseer) m. Williams Wilkins (servant)


Inquest, i.d. 1/1/1769:  died of "severe correction and cruel treatment."  RB fled since the death of WW.

VGaz, 11/ 2/1769:22  R   Murder in Northumberland Co., VA:  Proclamation, d. 10/31/1769.  "Whereas by an inquisition taken on the first day of January, 1769, before Newton Keene, Gentleman, one of the coroners of the county of Northumberland, upon view of the body of William WIlkins, late of the said county, deceased, it appears that the death of the said Wilkins was occasioned by the severe correction and cruel treatment received from one Rawleigh Bryant, late of the said county, and that the said Bryant since the death of the said Wilkins is fled, so that the process of law cannot be served upon him."  Proclamation asks all officers, civil & military, & all people, to apprehend RB.


Council, Proclamation, 10/31/1769:  no reward, but help sought in his capture.

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 622-3.

1769

Frederick Co.

GC


HOM:  John Ingham m.

VGaz, 12/14/1769:23  R   Trial for murder:  dtl Wmsb:  Th last, at Court of O&T:  John Ingham, from Frederick, for murder.  Remanded, for trial, to his county jail.

1769, Dec.

Hanover Co.


HOM of 3 SLAVES by WHITE POSSE / AIK of 2 whites by slaves:  CONSPIRACY TO REVOLT AND RUNAWAY:  

Maryland Gazette, 2/8/1770:  "Some Time about Christmas last, a tragical Affair happened at a Plantation in North Wales, Hanover County, belonging to Bowler Cocke, Esq. . . .  The Negroes belonging to the Plantation having long been treated with too much Lenity and Indulgence, were grown extremely insolent and unruly; Mr. Cocke therefore had employed a new Steward.  The Steward's Deputy (a young Man) had ordered one of the Slaves to make a Fire every Morning very early; the Fellow did not appear 'til Sunrise; on being examined why he came not sooner, he gave most insolent and provoking Answers, upon which, the young Man going to chastise him, the Fellow made a Stroke at him with an Axe (or some such Weapon) that was in his Hand, but happily missed him.  The young Man then closed with him, and having the Advantage, a Number of the other Slaves came to the Negro's Assistance, and beat the young Man severely.  At last the Ringleader (a very sensible Fellow) interceded for him, on which they desisted.  The young Man then made off as fast as he could, to procure Assistance to quell them.  Whilst he was gone, they tied up the Steward, and also a poor innocent, harmless old Man, who overlooked a neighbouring Quarter, and on hearing the Uproar, had paddled across the Creek to know the Cause of it.  These they whipped 'til they were raw from the Neck to the Waistband.  In some Time the young Man returned, with about Twelve white Men, and Two little Boys carrying each a Gun.  They released the Two unhappy Sufferers, and then proceeded to a Barn, where they found a large Body of the Negroes assembled (some say Forty, some Fifty) on whom they tried to prevail by Persuasion, but the Slaves, deaf to all they said, rushed upon them with a desperate Fury, armed with Clubs and Staves; one of them knocked down a white Man, and was going to repeat the Blow to finish him, which one of the Boys seeing, levelled his Piece, discharged its  Contents into the Fellow's Breast, and brought him to the Dust.  Another Fellow having also knocked down another of the Whites, was, in the same Manner, shot by the other Boy.  In short, the Battle continued sometime Desperate, but another of the Negroes having his Head almost cut off with a Broad Sword, and Five of them being wounded, the rest Fled.  The Accounts vary; some say Three were killed upon the Spot, and Five wounded, others that Two were killed, and Five wounded, One of whom died soon after.  It is said they had threatened to kill the Steward as soon as he came to the Plantation.  The Ringleader was one of the slain."


Rankin:  "an almost spontaneous insurrection broke out in Hanover County, resulting in a pitched battle between fifteen white men and forty or fifty slaves.  The fighting died out only after three of the slaves had been killed, and five wounded."

Virginia Gazette (Rind), 1/25/1770; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 176.


June 22, 1770:  Mr. Archibald reported from the Committee of Public Claims on the petition of Bowler Cocke and Charles Carter, Esquires.  The Committee's resolution, to which several depositions and the coroner's inquest are annexed:  "the said petition is reasonable; and that the petitioners ought to be allowed for the Slave Tom the Sum of Eighty five Pounds, for Matt One Hundred Pounds, and for Phil Eighty-five Pounds; and also the Sum of Twenty five Pounds for reimbursing them the Surgeon's Charge for attending and dressing the Slaves concerned in the Insurrection, in the said Petition mentioned."  Agreed to by the House.

John Pendleton Kennedy, ed., Journal of the House of Burgesses of Virginia (Richmond, 1906), 1770-1772, 92.

1770

Amelia Co.

GC


HOM:  David & Richard Holt m.


Indict. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/19/1770:23  R   Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  trials M & T last week.  David & Richard Holt from Amelia for murder, acquitted.  

[copied to Amelia Co. file]

1770

Frederick Co.

GC


HOM:  John Hamilton m.


Indict. for murder. fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  4/19/1770:23  R   Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  trials M & T last week.  John Hamilton, from Frederick, for murder, guilty.  

VGaz,  5/31/1770:22  R   Execution in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  John Hamilton from Frederick, executed for murder.

1770

Chesterfield Co.

GC


HOM:  Mark Edwards m.


Indict. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/19/1770:23  R   Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  trials M & T last week.  Mark Edwards, from Chesterfield, for murder, acquitted.

1770

Frederick Co.

GC


HOM:  Jesse Townsend m.


Indict. for murder.  fG.  DEATH.  

VGaz, 10/25/1770:22  PD  & VGaz, 11/ 8/1770:22  PD:  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Last week at General Court.  Jesse Townsend from Frederick, for murder, guilty.  Death.  

VGaz, 11/29/1770:21  PD  Execution in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Jesse Townsend executed for murder.  "He seemed very penitent, but denied his having committed the crime for which he suffered."

1770

Chesterfield Co.

GC


HOM:  Joseph Male m.


Indict. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz, 10/25/1770:22  PD  & VGaz, 11/ 8/1770:22  PD:  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Last week at General Court.  Joseph Male, from Chesterfield, for murder, acquitted.  

1770

Orange Co.

GC


HOM:  John Booth m.


Indict. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz, 10/25/1770:22  PD  & VGaz, 11/ 8/1770:22  PD:  Trial for murder in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Last week at General Court.  John Booth, from Orange, for murder, laid over for further trial.

VGaz, 12/13/1770:22  PD  (& R:  23 & 31)  Execution in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of Oyer & Terminer last T:  John Booth from Orange for mansl, burnt in the hand.

1770

Chesapeake Bay

PN


HOM:  Thomas Samson m. John Chavery, mariner.

Council, 10/15/1770:  jailed 9/28 in Gloucester Co.  Murder took place on board Schooner Polly, John Corrie Commander.  Escaped on 9/30.  Proclamations, 10/15/1770 & 12/12/1770.  Reward.  TS (age 30, long black hair, pitted with smallpox, has usually followed the sea).

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 367, 383, 388-9, 627-9.  Virginia Gazette, 10/18/1770 PD: 23 & R: 11; & 12/13/1770 R: 31.

1770

Accomack Co.

GC


HOM:  Moses Rigg m.


fG of murder.  Death.  But declared insane by the General Court & recommended to His Majesty as an object of mercy.

VGaz, 12/13/1770:22  PD  (& R:  23 & 31)  Execution in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of Oyer & Terminer last T:  Moses Rigg, from Accomack, for murder, condemned.

Council, 12/12/1770:  "appearing to be of insane Mind, upon which Account the Verdict against him was disapproved of by the Court."

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 383.

Council Journal, 1770, PRO CO5/1349, Va. Col. Rec. microfilm; and Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 113n60.

1771

Hampshire Co.

GC


HOM:  Henry Parmister m.


fG of Murder.

VGaz,  4/18/1771 PD: 31  Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T, yesterday, & this day, General Court:  


--Henry Parmister, from Hampshire, for murder, guilty.  

1771

Surry Co.

GC


HOM:  Henry Collier m.


Indict. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand & 1 yr in prison.

VGaz,  4/18/1771 PD: 31  Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T, yesterday, & this day, General Court:  

--Henry Collier, from Surry, for murder, guilty of manslaughter.  [VGaz,  5/ 9/1771 PD: 31  (& R 33)  burnt in the hand & imprisoned 12 months.]

[copied to Surry Co. file]

1771

Gloucester Co.

GC


HOM:  Thomas Sampson m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1771 PD: 31  Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T, yesterday, & this day, General Court:  

--Thomas Sampson, from Gloucester, for murder, takes his trial tomorrow, it is imagined he will be acquitted.  [VGaz,  4/25/1771 PD: 31  TS, "as augured in our last, had the Fortune to be acquitted."

1772, May 27Frederick Co.

PN


HOM:  Nicholas Curlett (lately a tavern keeper at Winchester) m. Mr. Jeremiah Beall (merchant at Winchester) at Winchester.  


Fled prosecution.

Council, Proclamation, 7/1/1772:  reward.  NC (a Virginian, 6', 28 years old, "well made," dark hair & complexion, "and a down Look.")

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 643-4.  

VGaz,  7/ 2/1772 PD: 31.  Murdered JB "barbarously . . . by firing through his Door at him with a Rifle.  It seems Mr. Beall, and some others, had been merry-making that Day, and in the Evening, hearing a Diffle at Curlett's Tavern, the proposed joining the Company there, but upon their ___ were refused Admittance by Curlett, who shut the Door upn them.  They persisting in their Resolution to enter the House, Curlett went through his back Door to a Neighbour's for POwder and Ball, and upn his Return, finding them still at the Door, instantly fired.  The Ball entered on one Side the Forehead of a young Man, Mr. Beall's board[door?]keeper, which has been since extracted, and it is thought he will survive.  Mr. Beall received his mortal wound by a Splinter from the Door."

1772

Pittsylvania Co.

GC


HOM:  Moses Moss m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  6/11/1772 PD: 31  Murder trial in Wmsb, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T, Court of O&T, Moses Moss from Pittsylvania, for murder, brought for trial, acquitted.

1772

Hanover Co.

GC


HOM:  Nathan Philips (servant) m. James Aylett (overseer).


Ind. for murder.  fNG.  Insane.  Jailed.

VGaz, 11/ 5/1772 PD: 32  Murder in Hanover Co., VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "Yesterday a Murder was committed in Hanover, by Nathan Philips of that County, on James Aylett, his Overseer, by shooting him through the Body with a Musket.  Philips, we hear, has for some Time been disordered in his Mind; and this Day delivered himself up to Justice, and is now in the publick Jail."

VGaz, 12/10/1772 PD: 23  (& R: 23)  Murder & Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last T, General Court:  Nathan Philips, from Hanover, for murder, acquitted, "but remanded to jail, being judged a Lunatick."  

1772

Brunswick Co.

GC


MANSL:  John Chavis m.


fNG.

VGaz, 12/10/1772 PD: 23  (& R: 23)  Murder & Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last T, General Court:  John Chavis, from Brunswick, for manslaughter, acquitted.

1773

Essex Co.

GC


HOM:  Leonard Burnett m. a negro.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/22/1773 PD: 31  (& R 33)  Murder trial in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last F, Sat, M, & T, General Court:  


--HOM:  Leonard Burnett, from Essex, for murder of a negro, acquitted.  

1773

James City Co.

GC


HOM:  Eliphalath Musgrove m.


fG of murder.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  4/22/1773 PD: 31  (& R 33)  Murder trial in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last F, Sat, M, & T, General Court:  

--HOM:  Eliphalath Musgrove from James City for murder.  Guilty.  [VGaz,  5/ 6/1773 PD: 22 (& R 23):  ED condemned.  Death.  //  VGaz,  6/ 3/1773 PD: 23 (& R 23)   ED executed.  "He appeared penitent, but said he suffered unjustly."]

* 1773

Henrico Co.

GC


HOM:  Robert Cook m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG, but remanded to jail, and to give security for his good behaviour.  

VGaz,  6/10/1773 PD: 21  (& R 33)  Murder, trials & executions for in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T & W at Court of O&T:  

--HOM:  Robert Cook, from Henrico, for murder.  acquitted, but remanded to jail, and to give security for his good behaviour.  

1773

Prince Edward Co.

GC


HOM [same case?]:  Benedict Alderson & Thomas Moody m.


Ind. for murder.  TM fNG.  BA fG of mansl, burnt in hand.

VGaz, 10/21/1773 PD: 21  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dlt Wmsb:  last Sat, M, & T, Gen. Ct.  

--HOM:  Benedict Alderson & Thomas Moody from Prince Edward, for murder.  Moody acquitted, but presented by the grand jury for manslaughter, of which he was acquitted likewise; Alderson found guilty of manslaughter.  [VGaz, 11/ 4/1773 PD: 21:  BA burnt in the hand.]  [[same case, or different cases?]]

1773

Accomack Co.

GC


HOM:  Benjamin Curle m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz, 10/21/1773 PD: 21  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dlt Wmsb:  last Sat, M, & T, Gen. Ct.  


--HOM:  Benjamin Curle, from Accomack, for murder.  Acquitted.

1773

Hanover Co.

GC


HOM:  Jesse May m.


Ind. for mansl.  fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz, 12/16/1773 PD: 22  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of O&T, T last:  [& R 12/16/1773  R: 41]


--MANSL:  Jesse May, from Hanover, for manslaughter.  Burnt in the hand.

1774

Bedford Co.

GC


HOM:  Catherine Peppers m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  4/21/1774 PD: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, General Court:

--HOM:  Catherine Peppers from Bedford Co. for murder.  Guilty.  [VGaz, 5/5/1774:  Death sentence.]  [VGaz, 6/2/1774:  executed Friday, June 3.  "She appeared to be very penitent, and perfectly resigned to her unhappy Fate."]

1774

Isle of Wight Co.

GC


MANSL:  Henry Bullard m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/21/1774 PD: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, General Court:

--HOM:  Henry Bullard from Isle of Wight Co. for mansl.  Guilty.  [VGaz, 5/5/1774:  sentence:  burnt in the hand.]

1774

New Kent Co.

GC


MANSL:  John Conner m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/21/1774 PD: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, General Court:

--HOM:  John Conner from New Kent Co. for mansl.  Guilty.  [VGaz, 5/5/1774:  sentence:  burnt in the hand.]

1774

Bedford Co.

GC


HOM:  Amos Jenkins m.


Ind. for murder.  bnf by grand jury.

VGaz,  4/21/1774 PD: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, General Court:


--HOM:  Amos Jenkins from Bedford Co. for murder, acquitted by Grand Jury.

Council, 2/28/1774:  AJ, committed by Bedford Co. Court to be tried at General Court for Murder, was set at liberty by the jail keeper in Bedford Co.  Ordered that AJ be sent to the public jail [in Williamsburgh].

Benjamin J. Hillman, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 6:  June 20, 1754-May 3, 1775 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1966), 555.

1774

Amherst Co.


HOM:  unk person m. an elderly man.


Fled.  No evidence that the murder[s] were ever found.

VGaz,  6/16/1774  R: 22  Murder in Amherst Co., VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "On Saturday the 21st of May was found, on the Buffaloe Ridge road, about 5 miles above the mouth of Tye river, in Amherst County, the body of an elderly man, who appeared to have been murdered some days before; his head had been violently beat (probably with a club) and his body removed some distance from the road, and nearly covered with stones.  He was dressed in a dark grey coat, with black cuffs and buttons, black velvet waistcoat and breeches, and jackboots.  There is reason to believe he was a dissenting clergyman, as the jury found in his pockets some printed and manuscript sermons, and some memorandums, in one of which was wrote 'the reverend Jacob Peoples,' which is supposed to have been his name, and is said to have been an inhabitant of the back parts of Pennsylvania.  They also found about 30s. in silver, with some other things, and a note of directions for the road; from which it appeared he was travelling into Augusta, by Rockfish Gap.  The murderer has not yet been heard of."

1774

Fairfax Co.

GC


MANSL:  John Lowe m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  6/16/1774 PD: 21  (& R 22)  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of O&T, T last:  


--HOM:  John Lowe, from Fairfax, for Mansl.  Burnt in the hand.

1774

Dunmore Co.

GC


HOM:  Christopher Wisecarver m.


Ind. for murder.  Escaped.

VGaz,  6/16/1774 PD: 21  (& R 22)  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Court of O&T, T last:  

--HOM:  Christopher Wisecarver, from Dunmore, for murder, turned over to the next court.  [VGaz, 8/4/1774:  R 33:  escaped from jail.  Christopher Wiseacre about 5' 5 or 6" high, "a young man, with short black hair, much pitted with the smallpox, and dressed in oznabrigs."]

1774

Williamsburg, VA


HOM SLAVE by SLAVE JEALOUSY:  a Negro man (of Mr. Saunders) m. a Negro man (of Mr. Maupin).

VGaz, 10/20/1774 PD: 23  by Negroes in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "Last Monday evening a valuable Negro Man belonging to Mr. Maupin, of this City, was waylaid; and stabbed in three different Places, by a Negro of Mr. Saunders's, of which Wounds he died the Night following.  It seems that Jealousy was the Cause of this Murder."

1774

Williamsburg, VA

GC


MANSL:  Christopher Roane m.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/20/1774 PD: 23  (& Pi 23) Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, Gen. Ct.:  


--HOM:  Christopher Roane, from Williamsburg, for mansl:  acquitted.

1774

Pittsylvania Co.

GC


MANSL [the same case?]:  Edward Lupton (shoemaker) & Edward Sweney (butcher) & James McDonald (laborer) m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz, 10/20/1774 PD: 23  (& Pi 23) Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, Gen. Ct.:  

--HOM:  Edward Lupton (shoemaker), Edward Sweney (butcher), & James McDonald [aka McDaniel] (laborer) from Pittsylvania for mansl. were found guilty & burnt in the hand.  And Patrick Ryan, "one of the Gang, and from the same County, turned King's Evidence.  They were all remanded back to Jail, being guilty of some notorious Offences at Salisbury, in North Carolina."  [VGaz, 10/27/1774 PD: 31 (& Pi 31):  proclamation from the Wmsb jailor, Peter Pelham, on 10/27:  ESCAPED before they could be sent to North Carolina for further trial.  "They were transported to [t]his Country as Convicts, and have been in the Possession of Mr. John Hook, Merchant in Bedford, who sold or consigned them to Mess. Chambers and Montgomery, Merchants in Salisbury, North Carolina, whence they fled from Justice."  "McDONALD is 20 Years old, short brown curled Hair, thin Viasge, blue Eyes, of a slender Make, and about 5 Feet 5 Inches high.--SWENHY is of McDonald's Height, 30 Years old, has short dark Hair, blue Eyes, a downcast Look, and is well made.--LUPTON is 25 Years old, has dark short Hair, blue Eyes, thin Viasge, of a slender Make, 5 Feet 10 Inches high, and is a very saucy impertinent Fellow.--RYAN is 25 Years old, has dark short Hair, Hazle Eyes, long Viasge, a full Beard, and is 5 Feet 4 Inches high.  They are all Irishmen."]

1774

Northampton Co.

GC


MANSL:  Abraham Lang m.


fNG.

VGaz, 10/20/1774 PD: 23  (& Pi 23) Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, Gen. Ct.:  


--HOM:  Abraham Lang, from Northampton, for mansl, acquitted.

1774

Botecourt Co.

GC


HOM:  Susannah Frazier m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz, 10/20/1774 PD: 23  (& Pi 23) Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  Sat, M, T, & W last, Gen. Ct.:  

--HOM:  Susannah Frazier, from Botetourt, for murder, guilty, death.  [VGaz,  1/14/1775  D: 23 (& Pi 33, 1/12/1775):  Susannah Brazier executed for murder.]

[copied to Botetourt Co. file]

1774

P
#346:  CJNH, 6/3/1774 (F):  p. 2:  articles on violence, robbery, etc. between Indians and Virginians in the Ohio River Valley -- Michael Cresap, et al.  An article in a previous issue spoke of the murder of Daniel Boone's son & others in a scirmish with Indians.  NO NOTES TAKEN ON THESE CASES YET – farther west that western VA
1775

York Co.

GC


MANSL:  Julius Kirk m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/22/1775  D: 31  (& 4/20/1775 Pi: 31)  (& 4/21/1775  P: s42)  Mansl. & trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last Sat & this week, at Gen. Court:


--HOM:  Julius Kirk, from York, for mansl, guilty [or for murder, fG of mansl].  Burnt in hand.

1775

King George Co.

GC


HOM of SLAVE by MASTER:  William Pitman m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  4/22/1775  D: 31  (& 4/20/1775 Pi: 31)  (& 4/21/1775  P: s42)  Mansl. & trial in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last Sat & this week, at Gen. Court:

--HOM:  William Pitman from King George, for murder.  guilty.  [VGaz, 5/13/1775 D: 23.  for the murder of his slave, executed on the gallows.  "Pitman made some resistance, but was soon overpowered; he behaved with decency at the place of execution, and attributed his unhappy fate to be the effect of intemperate drinking."]  [VGaz,  4/21/1775  P: s42:  "The evidences against William Pitman were his own son and daughter, by whom it appeared that their father, in the heat of passion, and when in liquor, had, for some trifling offence, tied his poor negro boy by the neck and heels, beat him most cruelly with a large grape vine, and then stamped him to death.  This man has justly incurred the penalties of the law, and we hear will certainly suffer; which ought to be a warning to others to treat their slaves with moderation, and not give way to unruly passions, that may bring them to an ignominious death, and involve their families in their unhappy fate."]

1775

Halifax Co.

GC


HOM:  John Johnson m.


Presented for murder.  bnf by grand jury.

VGaz, 10/27/1775  P: 13  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  on 10/16, 17, & 18 at Gen. Court:  


--HOM:  John JOhnson from Halifax for murder:  acquitted by grand jury.

1775

Prince William Co.

GC


HOM:  Robert Clodd m.


con't.  Ind. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand.


VGaz 6/15/1775 Pi: 31:  C&T last T & W:  RC of PW for murder:  con't. till next court.

VGaz, 10/27/1775  P: 13  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  on 10/16, 17, & 18 at Gen. Court:  


--HOM:  Robert Clodd, from Prince William, for murder.  fG of mansl.  burnt in hand.

1775

Nansemond Co.

GC


HOM:  James Howell m.


con't.  Ind. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz, 10/27/1775  P: 13  Mansl. in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  on 10/16, 17, & 18 at Gen. Court:  


--HOM:  James Howell, from Nansemond, for murder.  fG of mansl.  burnt in hand.

1776

Middlesex Co.


HOM of SLAVE by WHITE:  Robert Berry [overseer?] m. a Negro fellow (of Mrs. Jones).

VGaz,  4/19/1776  P: 33  HOM of SLAVE by WHITE in VA:  Murder in Middlesex Co., VA:  "Robert Berry of Middlesex, found guilty of murdering a negro fellow belonging to mrs. Jones of that county, has fled from justice, and there is now a hue and cry after him.  He is a native of Virginia, about 26 years of age, near 6 feet high, is stout made, has a down look, dark hair and eyes, and follows the water as a pilot.  He crossed the bay, to some part of the Eastern Shore."


[copied to Middlesex Co. file]

1777

NOTE:  The four indictments from Berkeley County in 1777 are hard to classify, given that the original court records are not available.  How many separate indictments were actually involved, or were four men tried for a single case of murder?  Two other multiple indictments from individual counties were investigated in 1777:  in one case there were two separate murders & in one case only one murder.


Ergo:  classified the Berkeley indictments as a single homicide, subject to future revision.

Note:  the COBs for Berkeley Co. have not survived, & Henrico's do not survive after 1769.  Ergo, could only check the 1777 homicides for Princess Anne.
1777

Albemarle Co.

GC


MANSL:  Zachariah Jones m.


fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  1/24/1777  P: 22 & 23  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last T & F, Court of O&T:  


--HOM:  Zachariah Jones from Albemarle, for mansl, guilty, burnt in hand.

1777

Southampton Co.

GC


HOM:  John Mecum m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  1/24/1777  P: 22 & 23  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  last T & F, Court of O&T:  

--HOM:  John Mecum, from Southampton, for murder, guilty, death.  [VGaz,  2/14/1777  P: 22  John Mecum executed last Sat.]

1777

Princess Anne Co.

GC


MANSL:  Habbakkuk Pride m. Richard Tryer, cordwainer.


At Gen. Court:  fG.  Burnt in hand.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Habakkuk Pride from Princess Anne for mansl, burnt in hand.

Minute Book 10:  1773-1782:  p. 121.

1777

Princess Anne Co.

GC


MANSL:  David Chapel, Mary Chapel, & Sarah Martin accused of murdering Joel Cornish.


At County Court:  MC disch.  DC & SM to be tried further at Gen. Ct.  Wit:  Edward Mills, Anne Mills, Jno __.


At General Court:  DC:  fG.  Burnt in hand.  SM:  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:

--HOM:  David Chapel from Princess Anne for mansl, burnt in the hand; Sarah Martin, from Princess Anne, for mansl., acquitted.

Minute Book 10:  1773-1782:  p. 123.

1777

Berkeley Co.

GC


HOM:  William Wallace m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  William Wallace from Berkeley for murder, guilty, death.


VGaz,  5/16/1777  D: 12  Murder, executions for:  dtl Wmsb:


--HOM:  William Wallace from Berkeley, for murder, executed 5/9.

1777

Berkeley Co.

GC


HOM:  Jeremiah Thomas m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Jeremiah Thomas, from Berkeley for murder, acquitted.

1777

Berkeley Co.

GC


HOM:  Thomas Morgan m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Thomas Morgan, from Berkeley, for murder, acquitted.

1777

Berkeley Co.

GC


HOM:  John Cassedy m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  John Cassedy, from Berkeley, for murder, acquitted.

1777

Chesterfield Co.

GC


HOM:  Jabez Denton m.


Ind. for murder.  fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Jabez Denton, from Chesterfield, for murder, acquitted.

1777

Mecklenburg Co.

GC


HOM:  Thomas Green m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Thomas Green, from Mecklenburg, for murder, guilty.  Death.


VGaz,  5/16/1777  D: 12  Murder, executions for:  dtl Wmsb:


--HOM:  Thomas Green from Mecklenburg, for murder, executed 5/9.

* 1777

Henrico Co.

GC


MANSL:  Michael Newman m.

fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  Michael Newman, from Henrico, for mansl, acquitted.

* 1777

Henrico Co.

GC


MANSL:  John Sharp m.


fNG.

VGaz,  4/18/1777  P: s11 & s12  Murder, trial & execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  8th, 9th, & 10th trials at capitol:


--HOM:  John Sharp, from Henrico, for mansl, acquitted.

1777

Elizabeth City Co.

GC


MANSL:  William Davis m.


fNG.

VGaz,  8/ 8/1777  P: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  COurt of O&T on T, W, & Th:  


--HOM:  William Davis, from Elizabeth City, for mansl, acquitted.

1777

Prince George Co.

GC


MANSL:  Mary Leith m.


fNG.

VGaz,  8/ 8/1777  P: 23  Mansl. trial in Williamsburg, VA:  COurt of O&T on T, W, & Th:  


--HOM:  Mary Leith, from Prince George, for murder, acquitted by the grand jury.

1777

VA


HOM [ROBBERY?]:  unk person[s] m. Leonard Croucher (pedlar)

VGaz, 10/31/1777  P: 12  HOM IN VA:  Murder in back counties of VA:  Advertisement:  Prince Edward Co., 10/21/1777:  "The executors or administrators of Leonard Croucher, a pedlar, who I am informed was murdered in some of the back counties, are hereby informed, that I have the said Croucher's bond, on demand, for 24l. 7s. 3d. for goods sold him."

1778

Williamsburg, VA


HOM:  Edward King & 2 others m. Richard Hornage (tallow chandler).


Jailed.

VGaz, 10/ 9/1778  D: 32  HOM in VA:  Murder in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "Last Tuesday night Richard Hornage, a tallow chandler, was inhumanly murdered in the house of Edward King, of this city, who is now in the public jail, together with two others, who are supposed to be the murderers."

1778

Prince George Co.

GC


HOM:  Charles Bowman m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.

VGaz, 10/30/1778  D: 31  (& P 32)  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  General Court on 10/10:  [only lists those who were condemned to death, not all those who were tried.]


--HOM:  Charles Bowman, from Prince George, for murder, death.

1778

Bedford Co.

GC


HOM:  John Lowry m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.

VGaz, 10/30/1778  D: 31  (& P 32)  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  General Court on 10/10:  [only lists those who were condemned to death, not all those who were tried.]


--HOM:  John Lowry, from Bedford, for murder, death.

1778

Princess Anne Co.

HOM & ROBBERY & TREASON:  Josiah Phillips, James Hodges, Robert Hodges, and Henry McClalen


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz, 10/30/1778  D: 31  (& P 32)  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  General Court on 10/10:  [only lists those who were condemned to death, not all those who were tried.]

--HOM & ROBBERY:  Josiah Phillips, James Hodges, Robert Hodges, and Henry McClalen, from Princess Anne, "for robbing the publick waggons (and who were accused of murder, treason, and sundry other outrages), tried for & convicted of robbery, death.

1778

Shanando Co.

GC


HOM:  John Reizer [Reazor] m.


Ind. for murder.  fG.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz, 10/30/1778  D: 31  (& P 32)  Murder, execution for, in Wmsburg, VA:  General Court on 0/10:  [only lists those who were condemned to death, not all those who were tried.]

--HOM:  John Reizer [Reazor], from Shanando, [aka John Reasor, from Frederick] for murder, death.

VGaz, 11/23/1778  D: 22:  EXECUTED in VA:  this day in Wmsb:  Josiah Phillips, Henry McClanen, Robert Hodges, John Reasor, & Josiah Blackenship.

1778

Williamsburg, VA


HOM:  unk person m. John Smith.


Fled.  no notice of capture of any suspect.

VGaz, 11/ 6/1778  D: 31  HOM in VA:  Murder in Wmsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "Last Monday morning the body of John Smith, one of the orderly men at the state hospital, was found dead in the lower end of this city, supposed to have been murdered in the night."

1778

Elizabeth City Co.


HOM of MASTER by SLAVE:  8 Negro slaves m. Mr. Lockey Collier (their master).


Most confessed.  Jailed.

VGaz, 11/ 6/1778  D: 31  HOM in VA:  Murder in Elizabeth City, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  "In the night of the 29th ult. Mr. Lockey Collier, of Elizabeth City county, was murdered in his bed by his own negroes, who strangled him, and were about two hours about it; six, out of eight that were concerned, have confessed it, and are in jail."

1779

VA

GC


HOM:  Gilbert Pearce m.


fG of murder.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  5/ 1/1779 D: 22 HOM in VA:  Murder, executions for.  dlt Wmsb:  "Yesterday was executed at the gallows near this city, Gilbert Pearce and Wilson Pinkerton, both for murder."

1779

VA

GC


HOM:  Wilson Pinkerton m.


fG of murder.  Death.  Exec.

VGaz,  5/ 1/1779 D: 22 HOM in VA:  Murder, executions for.  dlt Wmsb:  "Yesterday was executed at the gallows near this city, Gilbert Pearce and Wilson Pinkerton, both for murder."

